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The Greenery B.V. is both the largest operating company and the holding company of the subsidiaries. In order to 

distinguish between operating company The Greenery and The Greenery as a holding company, this annual report 

uses the name The Greenery Groep to refer to the group as a whole – including all operating companies and The 

Greenery B.V. When the reference is specifically to operating company The Greenery, the name The Greenery is 

used. This does not alter the fact that The Greenery B.V. heads the group as its consolidating entity.
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Key statistics in 2016

approx.450
members

265
products

€ 1,030
million net revenue

Export to 

57 countries

Growers participating in GRASP: 

100%
Suppliers with IDH (Sustainable 

Trade Initiative) certification: 

70%

approx.1,000
domestic and international  

fruit & vegetable suppliers

€ 9.0
million net profit:

118% increase compared to 2015

20th anniversary of

The Greenery celebrated with

business relations, employees and 

members of the Cooperative

1,113
employees (FTEs at year-end)

New organisational structure 

which is more responsive to 

market and growers’ interests

Sustainable chain optimisation

due to development and 

integration of DCs, SAP and more 

home-based transhipment

New financing facility 

committed for three years

New multi-year contracts

with two large retail clients
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Key figures

in millions of euros, unless indicated otherwise

Total Continuing operations

2016 2015 2016 2015

Net revenue 1,030 1,107 1,012 1,052
Fruit & Vegetable Trade 955 1,031 937 976

Logistical Services 70 71 70 71

Exploitation & Development 5 5 5 5

Gross contribution1 153 168 150 160

Personnel expenses - fixed 68 74 67 67

Personnel expenses - variable 25 25 25 24

Other operating expenses 42 45 39 38

EBITDA 18 24 19 31

Depreciation 14 15

Impairments 1 5

Operating profit 3 4

Financial income and expenses (4) (8)

Taxes on income (1) (3)

Income from associates 11 11

Net profit 9 4

Cash flows
Cash flow from operating activities 2 24

Cash flow from investing activities (3) 46

Cash flow from financing activities 4 (62)

Equity and financing
Balance sheet total 327 323

Invested capital2 192 189

Return on average invested capital 1.6% 1.6%

Interest-bearing loans (including members' loans) 80 74

Members' loans 56 61

Capital base
Equity capital 95 87

Product funds 6 6

Provision for deferred tax liabilities 16 17

Mandatory members' loans (long term) 40 44

Pension provision (RJ271)3 11 9

Total capital base 168 163

Capital base as a percentage of total assets 51.4% 50.6%

Number of employees
Full-time equivalents as at 31 December 1,113 1,327 981 1,036

     

1 Net revenue minus cost of sales and subcontracted work

2 Fixed assets and working capital

3 The (provisional) commitment to pension providers is included in the capital base.
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Foreword

Pisum sativum (mangetouts)

In the 2016 reporting year, The Greenery successfully

continued the implementation of its Strategic Plan for

2014–2018. The foundation is solid and the results,

financial and otherwise, are positive. We are once

again focused outward, with realistic ambitions. We

have made apparent steps towards a new strategy that

will enable The Greenery to continue building a

healthy future.

In early November we celebrated the 20th anniversary

of Coöperatie Coforta and The Greenery together with

our growers, employees and other stakeholders.

Challenges and sustainable trends
Recent years have seen many positive changes at The

Greenery, but much remains to be done. When we

extended our strategy to 2022 it became clear that

The Greenery is facing considerable external

challenges and trends that require a distinct response.

It is clear that sufficient quantities of safe, healthy,

affordable and sustainable food will be absolutely

necessary to feed the strongly growing world

population. Food security and food safety are

becoming more and more important, increasing the

need for crops to be grown locally. Climate change will

make it more difficult to grow crops in certain areas,

which means that food security will be threatened in

an increasing number of countries.

While healthy food may have become a trend, our

healthcare costs keep rising. One of the causes of this

is an unhealthy lifestyle that gives rise to chronic

diseases. Healthy food is an important instrument in

the effort to curb healthcare costs. Consumption of

fruit and vegetables in Europe is structurally low. One

of the main challenges facing the Dutch fruit and

vegetables sector, therefore, is to increase fruit and

vegetable consumption in Europe.

Technology is developing at lightening speed in many

sectors of the economy, including horticulture.

Disruptive effects seem unavoidable. We cannot tell

exactly how successful certain innovations will be nor

how they will influence our sector and earning model.

Digitisation is making production chains increasingly

transparent, allowing consumers to find exactly the

range of products they are looking for. This means we

need to excel in price, quality and knowledge of our

clients. At the same time, social media have made

communication faster, more direct, more mobile and

more visual. Players who fail to respond to that

development will lose their connection with the

market.
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European supermarkets are growing in size and are

making ever more stringent demands in the fields of

sustainability, availability, continuity, food safety,

product quality and packaging. This calls for long-

term relationships between retailers and suppliers to

safeguard consistent product quality. At the same

time, the retailers themselves are being challenged by

new entrants in the market, including online players,

and by alternative products, new and additional meal

and snack times via online and offline channels. This

means we will also need to keep in touch with the

online markets that our clients are entering.

As ‘local-for-local’ is becoming increasingly

important, so are local or regional growers. Exports of

some of our products will decline as a result, but the

export of chain and cultivation expertise will increase

in the drive towards improving local cultivation. The

role of Coforta and The Greenery growers in this

context is expanding.

The pressure to switch to sustainable production

methods incorporating advanced technology is

increasing. This calls for huge investments, which

means we need to intensify, innovate or

internationalise our approach. The Dutch horticultural

sector is already fully engaged in this process, and will

benefit from the opportunities it offers to create a

distinct profile for Dutch produce on the international

market.

In the next few years, The Greenery will have to gear its

organisation even more effectively to these external

developments, in order to continue providing healthy

and responsible food for a growing world population.

The better we do this, the more value we will add - not

just for consumers but for all stakeholders in our chain

and for society at large.

Ambition
The Greenery believes that healthy and sustainably

grown fruit and vegetables should be available to all.

To that end we are now sharpening the focus in our

activities. We will be more selective in our approach to

markets, buyers and growers. Indeed, our motto is that

'You need to choose in order to be chosen'. We will

concentrate our efforts in areas where we can make a

difference, establishing long-term contacts and

offering solutions for the challenges ahead. We will

join forces with our growers in order to:

• be the preferred partner for the fresh fruit and

vegetables chain;

• serve the retail market by offering innovative

concepts and unique services;

• maximise sustainability in the chain by minimising

our environmental footprint;

• create space for healthy growth by promoting

cooperation throughout the chain;

• increase the value of fruit and vegetables.

There is a saying that goes, ‘You walk faster alone, but

you get further together’. This certainly applies to

Coforta and The Greenery. The distinct agreements

made in the reporting year on the division of roles

between the two parties enable us to concentrate

knowledge, skills and energy in a determined effort to

realise our shared ambitions in a healthy manner.

Our mission will have been successful if we manage to

contribute to healthier and better food for consumers

and raise overall consumption of fruit and vegetables.

We have this planet on loan. By taking our

responsibility seriously, we can help to create a better

world. In our vision, profitable cultivation and

corporate responsibility go hand in hand. That is what

makes The Greenery a truly valuable organisation.

Gerard Pronk, chairman, Coöperatie Coforta U.A

Steven Martina , CEO, The Greenery B.V.

Barendrecht, 15 March 2017

 

Solanum lycopersicum 'Coeur de boeuf' (Coeur de

boeuf tomato)
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About The Greenery

The new distribution centre in Barendrecht

The Greenery is an international fruit and vegetables company. Every day, The

Greenery works with its growers, employees, clients and suppliers to allow

consumers to enjoy natural, healthy and ultra-fresh fruit and vegetables.

Company profile

The Greenery is the international marketing & sales

organisation for fresh fruit and vegetables from the

Coforta growers' cooperative. Originally a Dutch

cooperative, Coöperatie Coforta's membership is also

open to a select group of international growers. This

enables us to meet demand for local produce at our

international clients and improve cooperation with

international suppliers.

Through The Greenery, the members of Coforta supply

a complete and ultra-fresh assortment of fruit and

vegetables to supermarkets, wholesalers, caterers and

the processing industry. We cooperate intensively with

our growers and partners from the Netherlands and

abroad to be able to supply our products to clients all

year round. Our job is to ensure the efficient

management of our extensive product range, in terms

of both quality and quantity - and therein lies our

expertise, both anticipating and responding to

society's needs.

The Greenery offers its growers prices in line with the

market as well as continuity of sales thanks to long-

term collaborations with clients. We are continuously

on the look-out for innovative products and packaging

and shelf concepts on behalf of our clients, using both

our expertise and market research in this effort. In

addition, we maintain contacts with end users through

consumer panels, we translate consumers' wishes to

projects for seed companies and we are represented in

trade and sector organisations. Intensive collaboration

enables us to connect all the links in our chain.

Organisational structure
The Greenery Group comprises various business units

that focus on Fruit & Vegetable Trade, Logistical
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Services and Exploitation & Development. The

Greenery B.V. is by far the largest unit within the

Group.

Effective 1 January 2016, The Greenery implemented a

new organisational structure that allows it to respond

more effectively to market trends and to our growers'

varied interests. This new structure is centred around

both market knowledge and knowledge of specific

products, and includes a specialised retail unit to serve

these clients. In addition, the structure also provides

for a 'sales desk' for each product unit, which

exclusively serves the relevant unit. The sales teams

are fully up to date on the availability of products

among growers and suppliers, quantitative and

qualitative demand, specialist quality requirements

per market, logistics flows, storage life and

developments in the field of sustainability for their

product unit.

The Greenery Group represents several business units,

subsidiaries and participating interests which

collectively contribute to the successful marketing of

fruit and vegetables. The interplay of the various

business units owes its strength to the fact that The

Greenery is represented, and can make a real

difference, in all links of the chain. The Greenery's

existing activities can be classified within three pillars:

Fruit & Vegetable Trade, Logistical Services and

Exploitation & Development.

Fruit & Vegetable Trade
Fruit & Vegetable Trade covers all business units and

subsidiaries whose primary activity is the sale of fruit

and vegetables.

The Greenery
In addition to its 450 members, The Greenery works

with around 50 other Dutch and 500 international

growers to be able to provide a complete range all year

round , supplementing the Dutch assortment with

imported products. This focus on continuity in every

single collaboration enables The Greenery to supply

more than 265 different products that meet our

clients' requirements and specifications every day. This

allows us to deliver and distribute a complete and

ultra-fresh assortment of fruit and vegetables all year

round to national and international supermarket

Organisational structure

23Footer

The Greenery Group

Shared services

Supply ChainThe Greenery

Top fruit 

Soft fruit

Greenhouse 

vegetables

Rich soil produce

Mushrooms

Import (Hagé, 

Dalice, España)

Dijco Account

management 

Marketing/

E-commerce

Organic

(Naturelle)

Retail Subsidiaries

Hollander 

Barendrecht

Hoogsteder 

Groep

Wagenaar

Organisational structure
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chains, wholesalers, caterers and the processing

industry. The Greenery offers its clients good quality

products at attractive prices. The company

distinguishes itself in the market through its wide

variety of products and services, close relationships

with growers, knowledge of the fresh produce market

and focus on innovation and food safety. Due to its

excellent supply chain management, The Greenery can

manage all flows of goods effectively and make sure

the right products are linked directly to the right

clients.

The Fruit & Vegetable Trade unit includes activities by

and performed under the following companies and

labels, in addition to The Greenery itself:

Supply Chain Management & Logistics
The Greenery has an automated logistics

infrastructure, combined with expanding

transhipment options with our growers and in our

state-of-the-art distribution centres. As a result, our

products can reach the shelf right from the field or

greenhouse within a single day.

The Greenery's logistics companies and chain partners

serve all clients promptly and efficiently, both locally

by truck and worldwide by air. There is also the

possibility to combine third-party transport flows and

those of The Greenery to reduce the number of client

deliveries.

Hagé International
Hagé International arranges imports for all companies

within the Group and cooperates with growers in over

Core values

Our employees are motivated by a set of shared basic values. Alongside our agreements with clients, growers and

other stakeholders, our core values help to make us the most trusted supplier of fruit and vegetables. Our core

values are:

Reliability
We do what we promise and we deliver high-quality and safe products in a reliable way.

Clarity
We make clear agreements and always operate within the law and our own standards and values.

Driven
We are always committed to serving our growers and clients.

Logistics solutions

Growers Logistics

Import Logistics

Third parties Logistics

Logistics Packaging Retail

Logistics E-commerce

Distribution centre Distribution centre Consumer
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fifty countries, with an emphasis on areas overseas.

Thanks to its close ties with suppliers, Hagé is able to

supply a complete assortment of fruit and vegetables

all year round to retailers, wholesalers, caterers and

the processing industry in Europe. Hagé International

also includes The Greenery España S.A., which focuses

on the trade of Spanish products, particularly citrus,

soft and stone fruit.

Naturelle
Naturelle specialises in the purchase and sale of

organic fruit and vegetables, and obtains its products

from both Coforta growers and external suppliers.

Naturelle supplies an organic range to the retail

segment all year round. In addition, it is licensed under

Bio+, an organic consumer label in the Netherlands.

Besides supplying the retail segment, Naturelle serves

organic food shops and food service wholesalers in the

Netherlands and elsewhere.

Dalice
Dalice is a trading company established in Qingdao

(China) which mainly focuses on sourcing garlic and

ginger for Hagé. The Greenery also uses Dalice to sell

Dutch products in the Chinese market. In the last

couple of years, the first initiatives to that effect

involving stone fruit were launched.

Hoogsteder Group
Hoogsteder Group specialises in the sale of fruit and

vegetables in Southern Europe, the Middle East, the

USA and Japan. The group supplies almost all retail

chains in France and Italy, while in Spain the focus has

traditionally been on wholesale. In France, Hoogsteder

has the highest sales from the Netherlands of all Dutch

exporters. The company Van Den Berg is a specialist

for Switzerland, and Greenery Produce focuses on the

Middle East, the USA and Japan. All parts of

Hoogsteder Group are specialists in their respective

fields and hold a significant market position.

Hoogsteder has its own logistics centre in Bleiswijk.

JH Wagenaar
JH Wagenaar, a Dutch wholesaler in fresh produce,

occupies a prominent position in the market for fresh

staple products and rich soil products. In addition, the

company supplies products for industrial enterprises.

Logistical Services
Services is the pillar for business units and subsidiaries

where commercial services qualify as the primary

activity. This pillar includes the following companies:

Hollander Barendrecht
As a supply chain partner, Hollander is responsible for

all logistics associated with the entire refrigerated and

fresh assortment for Plus Retail. In addition, Hollander

provides added value through a variety of

improvement programmes, chain projects and supply

chain activities. From the state-of-the-art distribution

centre for fresh produce in Barendrecht and with a

fleet of 110 trucks, Hollander supplies 3,000 different

products to 262 supermarkets every day.

Packaging unit in the new distribution centre
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Dijco
Dijco Internationaal Transportbedrijf arranges all

inbound and outbound transport activities on behalf

of The Greenery. With a modern fleet of 60 Dijco trucks

and 85 chartered vehicles, the company transports

fresh produce from growers to distribution centres and

from distribution centres to clients in the Netherlands,

Germany, the United Kingdom, France and other EU

Member States. In addition, Dijco transports

packaging materials to growers and has, for several

decades, arranged the transport of other consumer

products and food labels as return freight for a number

of leading international businesses.

Blue Sky Cargo
Trading under the name Blue Sky Cargo, Disselkoen

Airfreight B.V. is part of Hoogsteder Group. An

independent air-freight carrier, Blue Sky Cargo

specialises in the transportation of perishable goods

such as fruit and vegetables, flowers and plants. It

purchases air-freight space on a daily basis to

transport all shipments sold by Greenery Produce and

other units to overseas areas.

Exploitation & Development
Exploitation & Development covers all activities that

support the entire Greenery Group.

Euro Pool System (EPS)
Euro Pool System is the market leader in reusable

packaging in the European fresh fruit and vegetables

chain. The reusable crates have become the standard

in the chain for fresh and packaged foodstuffs. The

Greenery holds an indirect strategic interest of 26% in

Euro Pool System. In addition to being a shareholder,

The Greenery is also a buyer and supplies staff for

packaging material cleaning facilities in the

Netherlands. This ensures the availability of packaging

at all times, underlining The Greenery's role as director

of the chain.

Sweet Sensation
Via three companies - Goeie Peer, Licenced Varieties

Editors BV (LVE) and New Sensations BV - The Greenery

holds the licence for growing and marketing a unique

pear variety called ‘Rode Doyenne van Doorn’ (RDvD),

which is sold under the brand name Sweet Sensation.

Goeie Peer BV controls and operates the intellectual

property associated with the licence for the RDvD pear,

which is comprised of the management of its

cultivation worldwide and the issuance of sublicences

for the associated brand names Sweet Sensation®

(retail) and Sweet Dored® (trade). LVE is responsible

for management and operational affairs. The RDvD

pear has licencees in ten countries, including the

Netherlands, Argentina and Chile.

Greenery Vastgoed
Greenery Vastgoed operates the real estate owned by

The Greenery. As such, this unit is responsible for

internal leases of real estate and leases to third

parties. Greenery Vastgoed also facilitates all other

real estate activities on behalf of The Greenery. The

Greenery leases the following locations: the Retail DC,

packaging warehouse and head office in Barendrecht,

the Soft Fruit DC and packaging warehouse in Breda,

and the packaging warehouse and Tolpoort Office in

Wervershoof. The premises on most of the Klappolder

in Bleiswijk (including the DC, packaging warehouse,

Hoogsteder and Dijco) and the premises of Hollander

and Naturelle in Barendrecht are currently owned by

The Greenery.

PTLA (held for sale)
The Greenery owns PTLA, a mango production

company in Brazil. As mango production does not

qualify as a core activity, The Greenery is looking for a

buyer to take over this part of its portfolio.

Pyrus communis (Sweet Sensation pear)
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The context in which we operate

The Greenery generates over 60% of its revenues in its domestic market (the

Netherlands), with Germany in second, the United Kingdom in third, and France

in fourth place.

Despite its relatively concentrated sales market in

Western Europe, The Greenery is ranked 15th in the

World League of international enterprises in the global

horticultural and fresh produce sector (including

flowers) (source: Hillenraad 2016). Other Dutch

companies in this league are ranked lower: Chiquita

Europe (25th) and Harvest House (29th). The Greenery

exports fruit and vegetables to 57 countries.

Market share in key markets

Markets

Size of

fruit and vegetables

market1

The

Greenery's

market share

The Netherlands EUR 3.3 billion 19.9%

Germany EUR 3.4 billion2 4.1%

United Kingdom EUR 1.0 billion2 5.0%

France EUR 0.5 billion2 7.5%

   

1 For Germany, the United Kingdom and France this concerns the

volume of exports of fruit and vegetables from the

Netherlands.

2 Source: Eurostat − Volume and revenue of exports from the

Netherlands to this destination (including re-export)

Geographical spread

Fruit & Vegetable Trade

The Greenery

Hagé International

Naturelle

Hoogsteder Groep

Greenery Produce

Van den Berg

Wagenaar
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HI

N

HG
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W

Logistical Services

Hollander

Dijco

Blue Sky Cargo

H

D

BS

Exploitation & Development

Goeie Peer

LVE

New Sensation

Greenery Vastgoed (Real Estate)

GS Greenery España

GI Greenery Italia

Greenery UK

D Dalice

Fruit & Vegetable Trade

Logistical Services

Exploitation & Development

Greenery France GF

Greenery DeutschlandGD

GP

LV

GV

NS

PTLALA

UK
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Trends and developments

Fresh produce market development
The world around us is changing incredibly fast. This

has an influence on organisations as well as their

employees, who are confronted with these challenges.

Since the fresh produce market is characterised by

large volumes and small margins, this makes it all the

more important for us to anticipate market changes

proactively. To a large extent, the trends and

developments described below determine our

strategic course.

In 2016, more positive consumer confidence figures in

the Netherlands translated into a general increase in

spending on food. The fresh produce market, which is

expected to grow by 1-2% per annum over the next

few years, tends to be relatively insensitive to cyclical

trends. However, in times of economic recovery

consumers are likely to spend more on ‘convenience’

and ‘health’ in particular. The fresh produce sector

achieves high scores in both these segments. Fruit and

vegetables enjoy a positive image as health foods. In

addition, ready-made salads and pre-sliced fruit are

becoming ever more popular due in part to the strong

growth in single-person and double-income

households.

Collaboration, added value and supply chain
optimisation
For European retailers it is becoming more and more

important to have fresh produce on their shelves, as

this enables them to create added value for consumers

in the fiercely competitive retail sector. The ability to

offer high-quality products all year round, at the best

price, is crucial for them. Retailers are keen to take

control and purchase food products as close as

possible to the source. This is one of the drivers behind

the continued optimisation of supply chains, resulting

in ever closer collaboration between, or indeed

integration of, growers, importers, wholesalers and

pre-slicing businesses. To stand out from the

competition, large fresh produce companies will need

to facilitate all parts of the chain. Their contributions

to the design of ideal retail concepts geared to

consumers' wishes offers new opportunities to

generate added value within the chain. In addition, it is

very important to ensure that the 'online' chain is well

attuned to changing consumer behaviour. This is why

consistent quality, food safety, operational excellence

and an effective management information system are

crucial components of the business model.

Export continues to drive growth
The export market is an important driver of growth in

the fresh produce segment, especially to countries

outside the euro zone and due in part to the weakness

of the euro. Fruit and vegetables are the most

important export category for the Dutch food industry.

Exports continued to grow in 2016, and this trend is

expected to continue.

The Dutch fresh produce sector is generally seen as

highly reliable abroad, both as a trading partner and in

terms of the quality and safety of its products. It is in

an excellent position, therefore, to further expand its

response to the growing demand for fruit and

vegetables across Europe. Using these opportunities

calls for a broad international orientation, an

understanding of trends in local markets, and

investment in local networks and logistics.

Niche markets are becoming more profitable
The sector is benefiting from increasing awareness of

the importance of healthy food - organic or otherwise

- among consumers. Both consumers and retailers are

seeking products with distinctive properties in terms

of taste, nutritional value, packaging, origin and fair-

trade aspects. Supermarkets are experimenting more

and more with health-food initiatives, for example by

offering nutritional advice and innovative products.

They use technologies such as mobile Internet, social

media and health tools to respond to evolving client

needs. The trend towards convenience food and the

increasing use of time-saving food concepts for

consumers, such as freshly prepared meals, help fuel

consumer spending on food. As part of this trend, the

meals delivery market has evolved quickly.

Unprocessed fruit and vegetables continue to account

for the largest share in terms of volume, but European

consumers are increasingly looking for pre-sliced and

packaged products. In addition, they are becoming

more and more aware of issues associated with food

safety and sustainability. The rise in net disposable

incomes is reinforcing this trend.1

Products or concepts that genuinely add value in

terms of innovation, convenience, health and

perception have great potential for the future and will

be given more space on the shelves. Supermarkets are

among the largest stakeholders when it comes to food

and health, and The Greenery supports them in that

role.

1 Sources consulted: Trend reports on the fresh produce sector published by Rabobank, ABN AMRO, ING and others and market figures

published by The Greenery.
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Value creation and strategy

With the help of its growers, The Greenery adds value to fresh fruit and

vegetables. Indeed, that is our mission. As the sales organisation of over 500

Dutch and international growers united in our growers' cooperative Coforta, The

Greenery and all its growers, clients, suppliers, partners and employees are

committed to bringing healthy, tasty, safe and affordable fruit and vegetables

within the reach of every consumer. This is how The Greenery contributes to a

healthier society.

Strategy
In order to make fresh fruit and vegetables available to

every consumer, we collaborate with all the links in the

chain, promoting sustainable and socially responsible

cultivation with respect for people and planet. Thanks

to its growers, its intricate logistics network, a strong

IT infrastructure and its commercial expertise, The

Greenery has a strong foundation to stand out from its

competitors in the market. Far-reaching collaboration

with a variety of internal and external parties allows

for a chain-based approach aimed at adding maximum

value to our products and services.

In the years ahead, The Greenery will have to gear its

organisation even more effectively to external

developments in order to continue providing healthy

and responsible food for the growing world

population. The better we do this, the more value we

will add - not just for consumers but for all

stakeholders in our chain, and for society at large. In

2016 we laid the foundation for a new 'Strategy 2022',

which we will continue to implement in 2017.

Ambition
In a process of continued development, The Greenery

aims to become the preferred partner for retailers at

home and abroad, with an emphasis on the

Netherlands, Germany, the United Kingdom, France

and other neighbouring countries in Europe. As the

director of the chain, The Greenery strives to

streamline the process from grower to client as

efficiently as possible.

The value chain
The Greenery wants fresh, healthy and sustainably

grown fruit, vegetables and mushrooms to be available

to everyone. Throughout the chain, all companies that

form part of The Greenery focus on providing added

value. The increase in scale on both sides of the chain

calls for a long-term business relationship that

enables The Greenery to fulfil is managing role.

The main strategic elements of our value chain

optimisation policy target:

• the primary process;

• innovation;

• long-term revenue growth.

Primary process
The Greenery has set up the primary process in a way

that enables it to serve its various markets and clients

as effectively as possible, at appropriate cost and

service levels, while enabling growers to supply their

products at reasonable market prices. Due to its

efforts to optimally connect all links in the chain, from

growers to consumers, The Greenery is able to

maintain a suitable balance between supply and

demand. Product availability, guaranteed supply,

quality and a specialised marketing strategy are

crucial in the primary process, as well as our efficient

logistics processes. The Greenery's role as director of

the chain is becoming more and more evident.

Innovation
As part of the value chain optimisation effort, The

Greenery prioritises high-potential innovatiions with a

focus on:

• process innovations;

• new trade and distribution potential via online

platforms;

• the possibilities presented by ‘big data’;

• the use of social media;

• new concepts, packaging styles and consumption

patterns.
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Long-term revenue growth
The Greenery aims to achieve sustainable revenue

growth with a healthy return, while paying competitive

prices to growers. In view of the increasing prominence

of the retail sales channel and requirements in the

fields of sustainability and food safety, our objective

for 2022 is to focus not only on further expansion of

our product range, but also on environmental aspects

and certification. For further details, see the section

entitled 'Sustainability and social commitment'.

Our stakeholders
In building a healthier future, The Greenery is keen to

involve its principal stakeholders in its value creation

and supply chain optimisation strategy:

• members;

• other fruit and vegetable suppliers;

• retail and trade clients:

• consumers and society at large;

• employees;

• financial institutions;

• local authorities.

Value chain: joining forces to add value to fruit and vegetables

Grower Logistics

Distribution

Import Retail

Production Sourcing Distribution Sales Clients

The role of The Greenery

450 members
(Coforta)

Suppliers

Import

The Greenery

The Greenery

Hagé International

Naturelle / 

Wagenaar / Dalice / 

Hoogsteder

Direct delivery

By road (Dijco)

By air (Blue Sky 

Cargo)

The Greenery DC

Hollander

Trade

Retail

Trade clients

Retail clients

Consumers 

(indirectly)

Product and 

packaging advice 

(marketing)

Partner in cultivation 

planning

Cultivation 

programmes

Sourcing of members, 

sourcing of non-

members import

Product availability

Guaranteed supply

Quality control

Prevention of 

overproduction

Packaging

Storage

Transport by truck 

(Dijco) and by plane 

(Blue Sky Cargo)

Hollander provides 

the distribution of all 

fresh products to PLUS 

supermarkets (fruit 

& vegetables and all 

other segments)

Sales organisation 

optimised for Retail 

and Trade

Focus on best 

valuation

Specialised market 

approach through 

Wagenaar and 

Naturelle

Clients in 57 countries

Category 

management

Retail trends

Supply chain 

cooperation model

Trade opportunities

Market research

Product availability

Product specialists

ConsumentConsumers

Marketing

Demand-driven 
productionProduct

172016 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.



Members
Our members are the source of all of The Greenery's

activities. Together with our growers, we have

considerable expertise in the fields of cultivation,

products, packaging, food safety, logistics and

marketing. If the growers are successful, The Greenery

is successful. That is why The Greenery supports its

members in their efforts to pursue market-oriented,

innovative and sustainable cultivation and business

practices.

Practically all members renewed their membership in

2017, except for a few business cessations and one

grower who sold his company. The Greenery strives for

a stable membership of committed Coforta growers,

and strengthens its ties with growers who provide

specific added value by offering them attractive terms.

Other fruit and vegetable suppliers
Thanks to its network of associated growers and

suppliers, The Greenery is able to provide a complete

assortment of fresh fruit, vegetables and mushrooms

all year round.

Retail and trade clients
Over 80% of consumers in Europe buy their fresh fruit

and vegetables at the supermarket. This is why The

Greenery's sales strategy has a clear focus on the retail

segment, a crucial sales channel that offers short and

direct links with consumers. It is also the channel

where all the production, innovation, logistics and

marketing efforts in the chain converge. The

Greenery's strategy towards retailers is aimed at:

• growth, with The Greenery adding as much

sustainable value as possible, in part by offering

maximum convenience for retail clients;

• developing at least one further domestic market in

addition to the Netherlands.

Supplying trading companies is another strategy that

offers interesting sales opportunities for The Greenery.

It also brings economies of scale, which in turn enable

the company to serve the retail segment even better,

while price risks are spread. The company's policy is to

reduce the share of trade relative to retail and increase

efficiency through a digital platform.

Consumers and society at large
The main challenge facing the Dutch fruit and

vegetable sector is to increase fruit and vegetable

consumption in Europe. Due to the influence of

organisations such as Greenpeace, the Dutch

Foundation for Nature Conservation and

Environmental Protection and consumer sentiment,

there is increasing recognition of the importance of

sustainable fruit and vegetable production methods.

The collective goal, therefore, is to create a healthier

and more sustainable society. In the end, that is the

most valuable of all The Greenery's contributions to

society. It is crucial, therefore, to know what

consumers want. Based on our own research and

information gleaned from retailers, we develop

attractive new concepts and innovations.

In addition to the retail channel, the online channel is

playing an increasingly significant role. The Greenery is

currently examining how to best serve this channel

and is safeguarding its licence to operate by:

• attracting partners for online sales;

• conducting pilot projects involving direct supplies

to end users;

• making products ‘online proof’ based on relevant

research;

• further increasing sustainability its primary

logistics process;

• securing food safety;

• offering convenience and ready-to-eat products.

Employees
The Greenery's added value greatly depends on the

expertise, development, safety and health of our

employees. This is why we make every effort to ensure

that they have the knowledge and skills they need to

carry out their jobs. They are healthy and enjoy their

work. In this context, The Greenery creates a corporate

culture that encourages employees to feel responsible

for the results of the organisation as a whole, and in

which they collaborate as a matter of course but can

also fulfil their duties independently.

Financial institutions
The financial resources and infrastructure made

available by financial institutions enable The Greenery

to make the payments required for its operational

management. In return, these institutions demand a

reasonable fee that is proportionate to the risk they

incur. The Greenery has an effective risk management

framework that allows it to keep its financing costs at

a relatively low level.

Local authorities
Through its activities, The Greenery contributes to the

economy in the regions where it operates. In doing so,

the company ensures compliance with all applicable

laws and regulations.
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General Management
Report

White cabbage harvest at Fa. N.A. van Langen in Heerhugowaard

Progress on strategy and objectives

In 2016 The Greenery made good progress implementing its strategy for 2014–

2018 and achieving the associated objectives. This resulted in a higher net profit.

The objectives for 2016 included:

• Continued growth due to our focus on retail clients;

• Creating a stable organisation geared to the

market;

• Solid finances and cost savings;

• Optimisation of DC logistics and an efficient supply

chain;

• Translating the strategic plan into concrete actions.

Continued growth thanks to focus on
retail clients
In 2016, The Greenery strengthened its focus on the

retail channel in its core markets (the Netherlands, the

United Kingdom, Germany and France) in various

different ways, an effort that was facilitated by the

appointment of the new Retail Director with effect

from 1 June 2016.

As a service provider in the fresh produce sector, it is

extremely important to have a thorough

understanding of consumer wishes. ‘Feeling’ with

consumers will help The Greenery to continually

improve service. In collaboration with growers, it will

then develop market-oriented innovations that enable

the retailers to stand out in turn. Progressive

sustainability practices in this process are increasingly

important. At the same time, The Greenery will also

have to offer solutions with regard to the availability of

fresh produce so as to secure supplies despite our

changeable climate.

In collaboration with retailers at home and abroad,

concrete improvement plans were made in 2016 in

order to optimise services. The results include a higher

volume and higher revenues from retail. As part of the
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new organisational culture, the retail strategy has

been further embedded within the company's

operational management. A separate business unit

has been set up to serve a range of clients in this

important market segment.

In mid 2016, Hollander Barendrecht and PLUS Retail,

partners since 2008, entered into a new contract

extending their collaboration until 2025. Hollander

Barendrecht offers logistical services for the

distribution of fresh and refrigerated products to 262

PLUS supermarkets.

Stable organisation geared to market
demand
With effect from 1 January 2016, a new organisational

culture has been implemented allowing The Greenery

to respond to market developments more effectively.

The new structure includes a specialised retail unit to

focus specifically on our retail clients. With its focus on

product-specific knowledge, the new set-up also

places us in a better position to meet the varied

interests of our growers. We now have specialised sales

table teams per product unit, which are always up to

date on product availability and all other relevant

information in the chain.

Solid finances and cost savings
The Greenery contracted a new credit facility with a

term of three years , which can be extended twice for a

period of one year.

In late 2015 a project was launched aimed at

optimisation of all procurement outside the fresh

produce segment. This project, which, among other

things, focused on the costs of our facility services

providers, office costs and the costs of leased vehicles,

will yield considerable cost savings for The Greenery,

also in the longer term. Some of those savings have

already been passed on in the chain. In addition, the

consultancy has provided support in reducing the

costs of the Retail DC to be constructed and

integration of the Import DC in Barendrecht.

Mulder Onions was sold in mid 2016 as it no longer fit

in with The Greenery's core activities. The Greenery

also divested the activities of North Bank Growers, and

is currently examining the possibility of selling its

mango farms (PTLA) in Brazil.

Optimisation of distribution centres
The Greenery's DC policy aims to reduce the number of

DCs from eight in 2013 to three in 2019. This will

reduce the total floor area from 105,000 m² in 2013 to

approximately 60,000 m² in 2019, further streamlining

the chain while also strongly reducing the number of

transport movements and CO2 emissions. In order to

keep pace with the growth in volumes at The Greenery,

the home-based transhipment percentage for Dutch

products supplied by growers directly to clients saw a

structural and substantial increase to 63% by late

2016 (year-end 2013: 40%). There were five

distribution centres at the end of 2016.

The new DC for soft fruit in Breda, with a floor area of

over 13,000 m², was completed in the course of the

reporting year. Packaging warehouse activities are also

accommodated at this location. In September 2016

the extension of the Retail DC in Barendrecht (18,000

m2) became available, which is being used to

accommodate import activities at that location. The

integration with the Retail DC also included the

transfer of import operations to SAP. This represented

a substantial efficiency improvement as well as a major

step forward.

In 2016, the old section of the Retail DC was sold to

real estate investor WDP, who agreed to realise a new

DC with a floor area of approximately 24,000 m² on the

site of the old building, adjacent to the newly

constructed distribution centre. Together with the

newly completed building, this will result in a state-of-

the-art Retail DC with a combined floor area of around

42,000 m².

Update of the strategic plan
In the reporting year, an update of the strategic plan

was prepared. Expectations are that the new strategic

plan will be approved and implemented in the course

of 2017. The key components of this plan are the

distinct focus on sustainable value creation for our

stakeholders and continued optimisation of processes

in the chain.
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Results per business unit

The reporting structure of The Greenery Group reflects its various business units

that focus on Fruit & Vegetable Trade, Logistical Services and Exploitation &

Development respectively. This chapter provides an overview of the underlying

results for each of these business units.

Soft fruit
Consumption figures for soft fruit, which includes

blueberries, raspberries, blackberries etc., are rising

fast. This segment is expected to grow by

approximately 7% per year in the EU until 2020.

Consumption of strawberries is expected to grow by

2% per year. Improvements in terms of availability,

quality and affordability, as well as the promotion of

health benefits and diversification of consumption

patterns, should help to further develop this market.

Players like The Greenery that manage to add value for

the partners in the chain will reap the greatest rewards

of this.

The Greenery's development in the soft fruit segment

continued in the reporting year. Despite the increased

acreage for strawberries, the volumes of this product -

the largest in this unit - fell slightly due to extreme

weather conditions. The sales volumes of blueberries,

cherries and raspberries however rose relative to 2015

by 37%, 16% and 36% respectively.

The changeable weather, with a chilly spring and a

very hot autumn, left its mark on both the volumes

offered an on demand. The extremely high prices for

greenhouse asparagus and strawberries in the autumn

were particularly striking. With respect to cherries,

relatively poor quality resulted in low prices for the

early varieties. Despite the strong growth in volumes

for small soft fruit, prices in his category were

satisfactory. The Greenery has a professional group of

soft fruit growers who have joined forces to build their

future. Policy priorities include promotion, cost

efficiency, development of varieties and a pro-active

concept-based market approach.

Top fruit
Top fruit cultivation in the Netherlands is

characterised by fluctuations in yields due to

changeable weather and market conditions. The

specific Dutch climate is a technical advantage for

pear growers in the Netherlands, which is one of the

reasons that the acreage for pears has exceeded that

for apples since 2011. The closure of the Russian

market for Dutch fruit continues to have serious

consequences. Sales in new markets such as China,

Vietnam, Brazil and India are by no means sufficient to

compensate for the volume previously exported to

Russia. At the national level, people are suggesting

that we should step up our marketing efforts in order

to accelerate the development of these new markets.

In addition, efforts are being made specifically to

enhance the sale of Dutch pears in Germany, with

support from a three-year European campaign to

boost the sale of Conference pears. So far, Brexit has

not had any impact on the sale of Dutch fruit to

England.

From a commercial point of view, there were positive

developments in the Top Fruit product unit in 2016.

The Greenery has been able to attract numerous new

clients, increasing sales by 6%. The volume has also

increased, by 3%. In the apples segment, the club

variety Junami once again attracted substantial

investments. In the pears segment, considerable

investment went to the cultivation, sales and

marketing of Sweet Sensation. A well thought-out plan

regarding the cultivation of specific (club) varieties is

essential to operational continuity. This means that a

limited number of organisations market and trade in

varieties in accordance with a coordinated marketing

strategy. In the apple segment in particular, The

Greenery has noted strong growth in the new

cultivation of club varieties, and in the pears segment

as well, new varieties have been introduced over the

years.

Fragaria (strawberry)
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Greenhouse vegetables
In general, the greenhouse vegetable sector had a

reasonable year which reflected the improvement of

the economic climate in the Netherlands. This

recovery appears to be long-term.

Outside the Netherlands the acreage for greenhouse

vegetables is falling slightly overall, with the exception

of peppers and tomatoes, which are covering more and

more hectares in Spain. The acreage for Dutch

greenhouse vegetables in 2016 remained more or less

unchanged, but we are seeing continued growth in the

acreage for tomatoes in this country.

In 2016 the Greenhouse Vegetables product unit

generated reasonable prices with high-quality

products. However, the unit was affected by increasing

competition from Spain, which enjoys longer

production seasons, resulting in more pressure on

prices. In the spring in particular, prices for tomatoes

were disappointing due to the large volumes imported

from Spain and lower than expected demand. The

growers of round tomatoes, vine tomatoes and various

specialty tomatoes had a less successful year. The

share of snack vegetables (cucumbers, peppers and

tomatoes) is growing both in volume and value.

The extremely heavy hailstorms in the province of

Brabant in June also affected Coforta growers. The

adverse weather conditions had an impact on the

production of cucumbers, courgettes and plum and

snack tomatoes in the summer, resulting in scarcity

and higher prices. Since the summer, some of these

segments have been able to compensate for these

losses to a certain extent, thanks to recovering prices.

In the production of greenhouse vegetables, the

difference between commodities, such as vine and

other tomatoes and cucumbers on the one hand, and

specialty products, such as snack, cocktail and vine

cherry tomatoes on the other, is increasing. In the

commodities segment, efficiency and optimisation will

continue to be crucial priorities. Production in the

specialty assortment is increasingly demand-driven,

with a continued focus on a broad range and product

innovations.

The Greenery is keen on maintaining the balance

between yield in kilograms and taste/quality.

Mushrooms
Mushrooms enjoy a positive image and can be used in

an incredible variety of ways. They are particularly

popular in the United Kingdom, where they are

actually the second most important vegetable. In the

Netherlands, three quarters of households buy

mushrooms.

In 2016 the Mushrooms product unit witnessed a

stable trend in both revenues and volumes, with

further improvements in the results compared with

2015. The Greenery's own QS and BRC-certified

location specialised in mushrooms organises the

shortest and fastest production chain. The packaging

facility has been further optimised in a project that

also devoted special attention to extra sales

opportunities in the years ahead.

The Mushroom product unit represented 4.4% of the

member volume in 2016 (2015: 4%).

Rich soil produce
Overall, the rich soil segment experienced fluctuations

in production but good prices in 2016. The weather

left its mark on the production of crops this year.

During much of the summer season, availability was

highly limited due to the changeable weather. Weather

conditions also affected the growth of autumn and

winter crops, resulting in lower production volumes.

Extreme rainfall in Spain by the end of the year had a

positive impact on the sale of Dutch products during

the last few months of the year.

Cucurbita pepo cylindrica (courgette)
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Import
Imports have grown across the product range

throughout the reporting year. Of the total imported

volume in 2016, 70% was sold to the Dutch and

European retail markets; 30% was delivered to

wholesale clients. The products came from more than

65 countries, spread across all continents.

There was a particular focus on the successful

implementation of SAP and the opening of the new

distribution centre. In addition, the certification of

suppliers according to mandatory social responsibility

standards attracted considerable attention. For

example, the number of IDH-certified suppliers

increased strongly. As a result, imports are firmly on

schedule towards achieving 100% compliance with the

requirement in 2020.

Organic
The increasing demand for organic fruit and

vegetables in recent years continued in 2016, both in

the Netherlands and elsewhere. Revenues from

organic fresh produce at Dutch supermarkets grew by

more than 17% in the first half of 2016. This is in line

with the international trend of growth in the organic

segment, which is growing much faster than the

regular segment.

Awareness of healthy food is becoming an ever more

important part of a conscious lifestyle, and this

naturally translates into demand for organic products.

In addition, due to the economic recovery and

increasing consumer confidence, consumer spending

on food in general is rising. When growth is fuelled by

specific drivers such as luxury food, convenience and

health, consumers will spend more money on niche

products, which include organic products.

Due to this trend, in 2016 the organic segment at The

Greenery witnessed considerable growth in both

revenue and volume, although this growth did not

match the 17% growth at supermarkets. However, the

acreage for organic produce in the Netherlands is

insufficient to keep up with this. A new trend emerged

in the spring of 2016, when increasing numbers of

farmers decided to switch to organic. Supermarkets

have made distinct steps forward in terms of quality,

but this is not yet fully reflected - or indeed feasible -

in cultivation. The expected market developments

suggest there will be plenty of opportunities. The great

challenge for Naturelle in 2017 is to find and link

together a suitable range of products. In addition,

Naturelle will also be focusing on improving

relationships with its existing clients and on

structuring and further professionalising its

organisation.

Hoogsteder Group
Overall, the performance of Hoogsteder Group has

been satisfactory, despite the considerable challenges

it encountered in 2016.

For Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit BV and for Greenery

France, 2016 was a reasonable year as far as margins

are concerned, but it certainly was not an easy year.

While volumes picked up and rose by over 10%, the

strong downward pressure on prices persisted right

until the last few weeks of the year. More than 70% of

Hoogsteder's sales took place in the retail segment in

France, Italy and Spain.

Greenery Italia had a difficult year. This company

depends on large volumes in increasingly short periods

during the year. As a result, it did not always achieve

the margins required for a positive result. However,

Greenery Italia did manage once again to attract a

number of new clients for the retail segment, including

MD and Carrefour.

Van den Berg posted excellent results in 2016, with

revenue and volume figures exceeding expectations.

Van den Berg has a strong presence in Switzerland as

Naturelle opts for BioBased

In mid 2016, Naturelle announced that it had decided

to switch to BioBased cardboard boxes for packaging

its products. The first step in that direction was made

with the use of BioBased boxes for tomatoes. This

decision means that Naturelle is the first supplier of

organic fruit and vegetables that opts for a sustainable

and environmentally conscious BioBased packaging

material, made of solid cardboard enriched with

tomato fibres.

The tomato plants themselves now produce raw

material for the cardboard boxes in which the

tomatoes are sold, without any increase in tomato

acreage. Normally the life cycle of tomato plants ends

in the composting phase, but now the plant residues

are used for the production of high-quality and

recyclable solid cardboard. This allows us to maximise

the reusability of raw materials and contribute to the

circular economy. A consortium of partners, including

The Greenery, have worked together over the past few

years to realise this sustainable solution.
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well as in the chain store segment. Expectations for

2017 remain positive.

Greenery Produce Overseas had a positive year despite

difficult market conditions in some of their overseas

markets. The unit registered an increase in volume of

around 20%. In 2017, both the Far East and the Near

East can be expected to show growth.

Hollander Barendrecht
Hollander had a satisfactory year in 2016 in terms of

operations, with volumes increasing from 59.1 million

packages in 2015 to 62.7 million packages in 2016 - a

6.1% rise. Factors that facilitated this growth include

the increase in the number of Sunday deliveries to

quite a substantial level. In addition, in mid 2016 the

number of square metres was increased to

accommodate the company's daily operations. In

2016, Hollander entered into a new partnership

agreement with PLUS until 2025. The new contract

signifies a concerted effort by these two parties to

further optimise supply chain management, with the

ultimate goal of providing consumers with ultra-fresh

products.

JH Wagenaar
Volumes in 2016 fell slightly compared with 2015,

while revenues remained virtually unchanged. In the

last quarter of the year, sales figures for rich soil

products in particular showed a very different picture

compared with 2015. Prices were more stable, and the

marketing of products within Europe posed a greater

challenge. Retail and wholesale sales in Eastern Europe

showed continued growth. Due to weather conditions,

volumes in the the fresh produce segment were

relatively low. Despite the disappointing volumes, the

total operating result was higher than expected and

also higher than in 2015, thanks to higher prices in

2016. In 2017 we have scheduled a new project for our

fresh produce segment automation system (RPO). This

will further improve the exchange of data between the

various business units.

Dalice
Due in particular to better prices for garlic, Dalice sales

rose by 18% compared with 2015. However, volumes

fell by 6% as a result of the lower availability of garlic.

Results for 2016 were satisfactory and practically the

same as in 2015.

Blue Sky Cargo
Disselkoen Air Freight, a company trading under the

name of Blue Sky Cargo, witnessed an exceptionally

good financial year due to additional incidental gains.

Both revenues and margins were in line with

expectations. For 2017 we expect further stabilisation

of the company and growth fuelled by its own

operations.

Dijco
The total volume transported by Dijco in 2016 was

stable relative to 2015. Effective collaboration

between all links in the chain enabled the company to

successfully divert transport flows during the

construction projects in Barendrecht and Breda, and

timely deliveries to clients were not jeopardised.

Renewal of the vehicle fleet resulted in a sharp fall in

diesel consumption, helping to reduce CO2 emissions.

Dijco's own fleet was deployed to optimum effect and

supplemented with chartered vehicles. In 2017, the

company will make further investments in intensifying

relations with its clients. This will result in permanent

improvements in the load factor of trucks, which will

be reflected in higher operating results.

Persea americana (avocado)
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Sustainability and social commitment

With its growers, suppliers and retail clients, The Greenery ensures that

consumers can enjoy naturally healthy, honest and tasty products.

About this report
The auditor did not assess the reliability of the

information that concerns sustainability figures.

Assurance of sustainability policy
The Sustainability Steering Group, established in 2016,

includes representatives from Sourcing, Quality &

Environment, Logistics, Marketing and HRM. The

sustainability policy and objectives for 2020 were

jointly adopted based on the ISO 26000 standard,

which provides assurance regarding structure and

coherence. Under the management's guidance, our

employees put the company's sustainability policy into

practice on a daily basis. The steering group monitors

the extent to which objectives are being realised.

Sustainability is a fixed item on the agenda of

management team meetings.

Progress on sustainability in 2016
Our clients can rely on The Greenery to provide them

with fruit and vegetables that meet the highest

feasible quality standards, are safe and produced

within efficient and increasingly sustainable chains.

Substantial efforts were made in 2016 to achieve this.

Sustainability has been an integrated part of our

business operations for years. At the end of 2015 we

formulated our new sustainability strategy for 2020,

which sets out our ambitions in this regard. In order to

enhance transparency we have incorporated the

sustainability report into the annual report. Our

sustainability policy rests of four pillars, as shown in

the model.

28 Footer

Pillar 1:

Growers and products

Our growers’ products are the result of 

sustainable cultivation. All our members and 

suppliers are certified according to social 

responsibility standards selected by us, and 

also work in accordance with our food safety 

and environmental standards. We encourage 

our growers and suppliers to ensure maximum 

sustainability in their working practices.

Pillar 3:

Employees

At The Greenery, employees have the 

knowledge and skills they need to carry out 

their jobs effectively. They are fit and enjoy 

going to work. We deal with all our employees 

in a sustainable manner, promoting their 

safety, health and development.

Pillar 2:

Sustainable supply chain

By 2020, our entire supply chain will be 

sustainable. Logistical processes are central 

to our business operations. By making 

those processes even more efficient, we will 

significantly support our sustainability policy, 

for example through reduced CO
2
 emissions 

and lower fuel consumption.

Pillar 4:

Society

We promote the consumption of fresh fruit and 

vegetables in accordance with the standards 

issued by the Netherlands Nutrition Centre, 

in order to contribute to a healthier and more 

sustainable society.
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Pillar 1: Growers and products
We encourage our growers and suppliers to ensure

maximum sustainability in their working practices. Our

growers' products have been cultivated with due

regard for people and the environment. All our

members and suppliers are certified according to

social responsibility standards selected by us, and also

work in accordance with our food safety and

environmental standards.

In 2013, The Greenery signed the Sustainable Trade

Initiative (Initiatief Duurzame Handel - IDH), a

covenant that encourages the use of sustainability

practices within international trade chains.

Sustainable means suppliers' production methods

comply with IDH-approved standards.

Within The Greenery, various Food Chain Projects are

being established with partners in the chain (suppliers

of crop protection agents, cultivation consultants,

growers, sales companies and retailers) in order to

make the cultivation process more sustainable. Issues

such as the quality of surface waters and biodiversity

play an important role in this context. For further

details, see the section on Verse Oogst.

Performance indicators for growers and products

Target for 2020 Achieved in 2016 Achieved in 2015

GlobalGAP-certified members 2020 100% 100% 100%

GlobalGAP-certified suppliers 2020 100% 100% 100%

GlobalGAP Risk Assessment on Social Practice (GRASP)

certified members

100% 100% 100%

Suppliers in social risk countries certified in accordance with

the Sustainable Trade Initiative (IDH)

100% 70%1 55%1

Number of growers participating in Bee Deals by 2020 30 25 6

    

1 This is the percentage of our suppliers that hold, or have take demonstrable steps to achieve, IDH certification.

Bee Deals

As pollinators of food crops, bees are essential in our food production system. Bees pollinate crops so they can

develop and eventually bear delicious fruits. In order to improve environmental conditions for honey bees and

other natural pollinators, Jumbo Supermarkets, The Greenery and some 25 fruit growers have joined forces by

taking bee-friendly measures under the guidance of the Centre for Agriculture and Environment Foundation and

Food4Bees.

Under the Bee Deals banner, growers affiliated with The Greenery are taking a variety of measures to create an

optimum environment for bees in their orchards. The measures ensure continuous protection of the flowers. In

addition, these growers use bees to transport microbial 'medicines' to the plants. In this way the bees help to

control fungi and other plant diseases. By creating flowery edges around their plots, the growers create an

attractive habitat for bees.
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Milieukeur

Milieukeur is a Dutch environmental quality label for fruit and vegetables that sets requirements in the fields of

food safety, sustainable production and operational management. Milieukeur requirements and restrictions:

• Crop protection agents

• Use of artificial and natural fertilisers

• Consumption of energy and water

• Soil use

• Packaging and waste

• Working conditions

From the various product units, The Greenery informs its growers and provides active guidance on the

implementation of the Milieukeur criteria. The objective is to achieve a substantial share of Milieukeur-certified

crops in our supplies to retail clients in the years to come.

Pillar 2: Sustainable supply chain
The Greenery continuously strives to promote

sustainability practices in the production chain, and

worked hard in the reporting year to that effect, as in

previous years. Logistics processes are central to our

business operations. We gear those processes to our

clients' needs at minimum costs and with the smallest

possible environmental impact. The drive towards

making those processes even more efficient and invest

in sustainable means of production constitutes a

valuable contribution to our sustainability policy. This

is reflected, for example, in lower CO2 emissions , lower

fuel consumption, less waste and smart utilisation of

residual flows. In 2016, the following targets were

achieved within the Sustainable Supply Chain pillar:

Performance indicators for the sustainable supply

chain
Target for

2020

Achieved

in 2016

Achieved in

2015

Highest number

of certifications

in warehouses

(BRC, GMP,

HACCP)

100% 100% 100%

Transport-

related CO2

emissions (g/km)

TBA1 887 939

Fall in CO2

emissions from

gas and

electricity at DCs

(kg)

-10%

relative to

2016

-2.3% baseline

measure

ment

Home-based

transhipment for

Dutch products

N/A 61.7% 59.6%

    

1 The target will be set in 2017.

No quantitative target has been set for home-based

transhipment. We apply home-based transhipment

whenever it has a positive effect on supply chain costs

or environmental impact. In 2016 we registered

further growth in home-based transhipment by 2

percentage points. This represents a substantial

reduction in transport movements, fuel consumption

and CO2 emissions, and also results in lower supply

chain costs.

The fleet of leased vehicles includes an increasing

number of relatively clean cars. At the end of 2016, the

company car scheme for employees was adapted. The

new policy was then adopted and implemented in

consultation with the Works Council. One of the

stipulations is that only cars with an energy label A, B

or C qualify for inclusion in the lease scheme. We also

promote the development of a mobility budget that

allows employees to decide for themselves whether to

join the lease scheme or opt for a public transport

card. In 2017 The Greenery will decide on a target for

2020.

As part of our attempts to further reduce supply chain

costs incurred as a result of errors, we have once again

cut the quantity of waste and the associated costs by a

very substantial margin. By offering 'fist-time right'

training programmes – derived from the LEAN method

– we make our employees more aware of what they

can do to help reduce the waste volume. Late in 2016

we launched a LEAN programme in Breda in which

employees received training on the various types of

waste. At the beginning of 2017 we will also

implement this programme at Naturelle. In 2016, SCM

employees received LEAN training and were made

aware of the various types of waste. This also involved

awareness of the first-time right principle.
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As part of the move towards a circular economy, in

2016 The Greenery entered into a partnership

agreement with its waste management supplier

Milgro, which will start reusing and processing

vegetable waste from 2017, transforming it into food

for insect farming. In addition, The Greenery teamed

up with the Verspillingsfabriek, which processes

rejected products from The Greenery into soups and

sauces. Since the launch of this collaboration in 2016,

no less than 19,000 kilos of rejected tomatoes have

been reused.

Priorities for 2017
• Reducing the volume of packaging material: in

2017 we will examine further ways of reducing the

volume of packaging materials. These may include

the use of lighter versions of existing materials, or

switching to sustainable raw materials (such as

BioBased cardboard). In addition, we will critically

examine the need for packaging materials, as well

as options to replace them by biodegradable

options.

• Solar energy: in 2016 a contract was signed with

WDP regarding the installation of solar panels on

the Retail DC. It is expected that the panels will be

installed in March/April 2017, i.e. well in time to

benefit from the summer period, and that by 2020

The Greenery will generate enough solar energy to

account for approximately 10% of its energy needs.

Pillar 3: Employees
The Greenery's employees have the knowledge and

skills they need to carry out their jobs effectively. They

are healthy and enjoy their work. The Greenery deals

with all its employees in a sustainable manner,

promoting their safety, health and development. Since

long-term employability is in everybody's interest, it is

a shared responsibility of the employer and the

employee. Promoting awareness of this fact is an

important element of our employability policy. For

further details, see the section entitled 'Our

employees'.

Employee performance indicators
Target for

2020

Achieved

in 2016

Achieved

in 2015

Absence due to

illness (excl.

maternity leave)

< 4.0% 4.9% 4.5%

    

In order to reduce absence due to illness, The Greenery

has launched a variety of projects aimed at promoting

employee health and vitality, as described in the

section entitled 'Our employees'.

Priorities for 2017
• An employee satisfaction survey will be held in

2017 as part of the effort to improve the dialogue

with employees.

• Further promoting our employees' long-term

employability, for instance through initiatives

developed by a special steering group and through

pilot projects in the field of health.

Pillar 4: Society
We promote the consumption of fresh fruit and

vegetables in accordance with the standards issued by

the Netherlands Nutrition Centre, in order to

contribute to a healthier and more sustainable society.

The Greenery aims to achieve this goal by

implementing the measures and initiatives listed

below.

Social responsibility performance indicators
Target for

2020

Achieved in

2016

Achieved in

2015

Promotion of

large-scale

events

5 2 1

Promotion of

small events /

campaigns

5 4 3

Monthly visitors

to verseoogst.nl

200,00

0

90,000 70,000

Number of

members of the

Facebook

community

150,00

0

42,000 34,500

Consumer

surveys via

verseoogst.nl

12 6 4

    

Bee Deals: creating an ideal habitat for bees
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In 2016, The Greenery participated in a number of

large-scale events such as the World Port Days and

'Share A Perfect Day’. The latter event attracted

60,000 visitors. We also contributed to the promotion

of several smaller-scale events and campaigns, such

as ‘I love chicory’, an asparagus promotion campaign

and a tomato promotion campaign with a private chef

for the winners, a national apple picking day and

monthly product demonstrations at retail clients.

Consumer panels and online surveys enable us to

identify consumer preferences. In addition, we conduct

an ongoing analysis of consumer responses to trends

and developments that we receive through

verseoogst.nl. We aim to achieve strong growth in

website visitors to 200,000 per month in 2020 by

means of promotional campaigns and partnerships

with culinary websites, cooks, bloggers and vloggers,

nutrition experts, retailers and media partners. In

addition, by offering a permanent flow of varied and

relevant content we hope to expand our Facebook

community to 150,000 members in 2020.

As part of its contribution to a healthier society, The

Greenery sponsors events such as the Kidsrun with

snack fruits and vegetables, the Rotterdan Marathon

with Junami Apples and the Clini Clowns Circus with

Fred & Ed apples.

Verse Oogst website 2016

In the ranking of the 2016 Website of the Year

(culinary websites category), www.verseoogst.nl came

in fourth out of twelve nominees. The website offers

excellent opportunities to observe consumers 'via the

retailer'. It is a platform of The Greenery that helps

visitors every day by offering them product and

background information about fruit and vegetables,

plus inspiring recipes for easy-to-prepare meals. In

this way, The Greenery shows the world that everyone

can obtain and enjoy healthy food. Verse Oogst is

originally a growers' initiative.

• 90,000 website visitors per month

• Over 42,000 fans on Facebook

• 3,400 followers on Twitter

• 1,950 followers on Instagram

Public inspired by Verse Oogst during the 'Share A Perfect Day' event
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Our employees

One of The Greenery's key priorities is the development, safety and health of our

employees. We ensure that our people have the knowledge and skills they need

to carry out their jobs effectively. They are healthy and enjoy their work.

Number of salaried employees

in FTE, year-end1 2016 2015

Number of employees in the

Netherlands 955 969

Number of employees outside

the Netherlands 1582 358

Total number of employees 1,113 1,327
   

1 Excluding interns, temporary workers and interim staff

2 The sharp fall in the number of employees outside the

Netherlands is due to the sale of North Bank Growers, the

termination of Greenery USA and the closure of one of the

mango farms at PTLA.

The number of employees is expected to stabilise in

2017.

Developments in 2016
The previously announced strategic reorganisation

plan was finalised in the course of the reporting year.

In addition, new initiatives have been launched and

developed to prepare for the future, in close

consultation with all parties involved. Key priorities are

long-term employability, a workforce that matches

future expectations, succession planning and an

ongoing change in culture to enable employees to

carry out their duties independently.

Due to the integration of the Import DC and the Retail

DC, announced in 2015, a number of employees have

become redundant. This issue was the subject of

extensive consultation and communication over the

past few years. This group of around 30 employees fell

within the scope of the Social Contract.

Further cost-saving measures have made it necessary

to adapt the company car scheme for employees. By

the end of the year a new scheme was adopted and

introduced, in consultation with the Works Council.

In addition, the company bonus scheme was adapted

in line with market practice, with the financial result of

the company determining whether or not a bonus will

actually be awarded. By the end of the year the Works

Council approved the new scheme.

The reporting year also saw the start of negotiations

with the unions on a new, contemporary CLA with a

term of one or two years. The idea is that the CLA

should reflect the new reality of our 24-hour economy

and week-end opening hours of retailers, a

development which has caused much of the work

pressure to shift to the weekends.

The absence due to illness rate during the reporting

year was 4.9% (2015: 4.5%). The target is a rate below

4% by 2020.

In addition to the necessary certifications, employee

training programmes conducted in 2016 include the

following:

• language courses (Dutch, German, English and

Spanish)

• lifting courses

• reach truck courses

• air freight

• required certification

• practical leadership

• project management

• ergonomics coaches

• in-depth professional training (Excel, minutes-

taking, labour law and communication)

• conducting assessment interviews

Given our healthy ambitions for the future, we have

raised the training budget for 2017.

Long-term employability
In 2016 The Greenery launched a plan of action to

promote long-term employability in view of the ageing

workforce with their heavy physical workload and the

gradual increase in the statutory retirement age. Since

long-term employability is in everybody's interest, it is

a shared responsibility of the employer and the

employee. Promoting awareness of this fact is an

important element of our employability policy. Apart

from training, in 2016 The Greenery invested in a fruit
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for employees plan, a bicycle scheme and several pilot

projects on health issues.

One of those pilot projects involves collaboration with

healthcare insurance company CZ. As part of this pilot,

30 employees from the office and the distribution

centres take part in a lifestyle coaching programme.

Baseline data are collected and key themes identified,

which can be applied in workshops and in individual

coaching. One objective is to create ambassadors in

the field of long-term employability.

Llong-term employability is also linked to the BRAVO

(movement, smoking, alcohol, nutrition and

relaxation) concept, which The Greenery intends to

work out in further detail in the course of the current

reporting year. In late 2016, a pilot involving ten

employees was launched to help people give up

smoking. There is also support for employees involved

in debt management arrangements.

The Greenery promotes long-term deployability

overall by stimulating the health and safety of

employees. We do so by means of prevention and

research, including periodic risk assessment and

evaluations (RI&E), safety walk-throughs, workplace

studies and advice, information and exercises.

Employees at the various sites are a particularly

vulnerable group due to the physical demands that

their work entails. A job rotation system has been

introduced at a number of sites to prevent the same

employees from having to do the same or the heaviest

work all the time. The measures and efforts aimed to

guarantee a healthy and safe work environment for

our people are described in the Arbo Care System.

In 2017 we will further enhance the dialogue with our

employees, and we will specifically establish a working

group comprised of employees from all parts of the

organisation to explore new ideas to promote long-

term employability.

Development of the organisation
The new sales organisation implemented on 1 January

2016 calls for a number of different competencies and

skills among our employees, such as more self-

management among managerial staff and other

supervisors. Strengthening our employees through

development and training remains another key

priority, in addition to efforts to attract and retain

employees with professional and intellectual abilities

at higher professional education level or higher. New

employees of The Greenery will have to be curious,

flexible and agile, and should be able to identify and

use opportunities that present themselves in the short

and long term. The online appraisal process will

include assessment of potential successors to

executive and board positions.

Employee participation
The Greenery attaches considerable value to the

opinions of its employees and aims to ensure good

contacts between the Works Council and the Executive

Board. Given the fact that both parties recognise the

importance of broad and effective consultation, they

meet every six weeks. The Works Council represents

the workforce of the entire organisation.

The various sites of The Greenery each have their own

local works council which discusses issues specifically

relevant to the site concerned, such as proposed

changes to the timetable. Following discussion in the

local works council, proposals are submitted for

approval to the Works Council. The Works Council is

also involved in company-wide matters, such as the

relocation of the Import DC, the new company car

scheme and long-term employability. The Works

Council approaches the Executive Board from a

positive yet critical perspective and performs its role in

a pragmatic way.

Participation Act
In 2016, again, around 40 to 50 people from the pool

of occupationally disabled persons were deployed to

the DC Barendrecht on a weekly basis. These people

come within the scope of the Participation Act

(Participatiewet). In this way, The Greenery met the

jobs agreement from this Act with due regard for its

own social responsibility.

Capsicum minimum (red chilli pepper)
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Financial performance

• Net profit doubled to EUR 9.0 million
• Net revenue fell by 6.9% to EUR 1.0 billion
• The volume decreased by 12.5% due to the departure of members in early 2016
• The average price level was 6.5% higher than in 2015
• The gross contribution fell by 7.8%; the gross margin remained virtually stable at 14.6%
• Operating expenses fell by 6.1%, on balance
• The balance sheet was improved by the sale of real estate
• The capital base increased from 50.6% to 51.2%
• Non-core activities were sold
• Increase in investment due to opening of two new DCs

For better insight, we have prepared an overview of net

revenue, gross contribution, operating expenses and

EBITDA for all continuing operations. Discontinued

operations include North Bank Growers (sold in

January 2016), Greenery North America (terminated in

April 2016), Mulder Onions (sold in July 2016) and

PTLA (held for sale). In addition, in this overview we

recognise a number of non-operating one-off income

and cost items from other financial years, with a total

negative impact on EBITDA of EUR 2.5 million.

Net revenue
In 2016, the share in revenue held by the Netherlands

and Rest of Europe increased at the expense of the

other destinations. In total, 93% of The Greenery's net

revenue was generated in the Fruit & Vegetables Trade

segment, which remained stable relative to 2015.

Over the course of the year, weather conditions in the

Netherlands and other production countries caused

upward pressure on prices in many product groups,

which helped compensate for the decreasing volumes.

Net revenue by geographical area

x EUR million 2016 Share 2015 Share

Index relative
to 2015

The Netherlands 654.2 64% 674.6 61% -3%

Germany 140.6 14% 163.0 15% -14%

United Kingdom 49.5 5% 94.4 9% -48%

Rest of Europe 158.3 15% 117.3 11% 35%

Rest of the world 27.0 3% 57.7 5% -53%

Total 1,029.7 100% 1,107.0 100% -7%
      

Net revenue by category

x EUR million

Total Continuing operations

2016 2015 Index 2016 2015 Index

Fruit & Vegetable Trade 955.1 1,030.5 -7% 937.2 975.8 -4%

Logistical Services 69.8 71.4 -2% 69.8 71.4 -2%

Exploitation &

Development 4.8 5.1 -6% 4.8 5.1 -6%

Total 1,029.7 1,107.0 -7% 1,011.8 1,052.3 -4%
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The fall in net revenue in the United Kingdom is

attributable mainly to the sale of the company's assets

in North Bank Growers Ltd. in January 2016.

In the 2015 Annual Report The Greenery said it

expected revenue to stabilise in 2016, particularly due

to an increase in contracted purchasing. That

expectation was not realised, given the 7% fall in

revenue compared with 2015, which can be attributed

entirely to Fruit & Vegetable Trade. On a continuing

operations basis this fall is much less dramatic, 3.8%.

EBITDA

x EUR million

Total
Continuing
operations

2016 2015 2016 2015

Gross
contribution1 153.0 167.6 150.1 160.1

Personnel

expenses - fixed 68.2 73.6 66.6 66.5

Personnel

expenses -

variable 25.3 25.4 25.1 24.2

Other operating

expenses 41.5 44.6 39.0 38.0

EBITDA 18.0 23.9 19.4 31.4
     

1 Net revenue minus cost of sales and subcontracted work

EBITDA in 2016 amounted to EUR 18 million, a

decrease of EUR 6 million compared with 2015. The

lower EBITDA was caused by the lower gross

contribution of EUR 17 million, which was

compensated in part by the decrease in personnel and

other operating expenses. The results of continuing

operations show that − in contrast to the preceding

year − many problems have been solved or that

operations have been sold or discontinued.

Operating profit
At EUR 14 million, depreciation was comparable to

2015. Most investments in the new DCs were not

effectuated until the second half of the year, which

means they had relatively little effect on depreciation.

Due to the fact that impairments were substantially

lower than in 2015, the operating result was only

marginally lower compared with 2015.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses amounted to EUR 4.0

million, which is half the amount in 2015. This

decrease can be attributed to lower withdrawals under

the accounts receivable financing facility as a result of

the sale of real estate, lower financing costs for supply

chain finance and a lower balance of members' loans

(at year-end 2016 EUR 4.4 million less than in 2015).

The new financing facility has not yet had any impact

on financial income and expenses.

x EUR million 2016 2015

Operating profit 2.6 3.7

Financial income and expenses (4.0) (7.9)

Taxes on income (0.6) (2.7)

Income from associates 11.0 11.0

Net profit 9.0 4.1
   

Income from associates
The result of the non-consolidated share in Euro Pool

Systems (held indirectly via Houdstermaatschappij

Verpakkingen) is the same as in 2015 (EUR 11 million).

Net profit
The net profit is EUR 9.0 million compared with EUR

4.1 million in 2015. This improvement was achieved

despite the lower gross contribution, and can be

attributed in part to decreases in costs, including

financing costs.

Operating profit

x EUR million

Total
Continuing
operations

2016 2015 2016 2015

EBITDA 18.0 23.9 19.4 31.4

Depreciation 14.1 15.3

Impairments 1.3 5.0

Operating profit 2.6 3.7
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Investments and disposals
In 2016, real estate partner WDP completed two new

DCs. The extension of the Retail DC in Barendrecht was

completed and opened in August. As a result, import

operations are now accommodated in the Retail DC. A

new facility for soft fruit activities and related

packaging operations was completed in Breda in

November, with all activities being relocated to the

new warehouse in December. The first section of a new

packaging warehouse in Barendrecht was completed

in September. Besides the lessee investments in the

buildings mentioned above, investments were made in

the replacement of rolling stock and ICT. The Greenery

also invested in its head office, where approximately

70 new work stations were created. As a result, two

other offices in Barendrecht could be closed and all

staff members were gathered in a single location.

Investments in 2016 amounted to a total of EUR 20.3

million, including EUR 5.0 million in investments at

growers' companies (2015: EUR 6.0 million).

Real estate was sold in 2016, as it was in the previous

year. In March, the remaining section of the Retail DC

in Barendrecht was sold to WPD.

The proceeds from all disposals amounted to EUR 9.1

million. Part of the Retail DC will be completed in 2017.

Because the purchase price has already been paid, a

mortgage of EUR 6 million has been granted for the

remaining section that is to be delivered.

Balance sheet position
Compared with 2015, the balance sheet total rose by

EUR 4.1 million to EUR 326.7 million at year-end 2016.

The decrease in fixed assets resulting from the sale of

real estate and depreciation, and write-off of

intangible assets and the decrease in the accounts

receivable position (mainly as a result of the

introduction of supply chain finance) was amply

compensated by the increase in receivables from

Coforta in connection with CMO subsidy applications.

On the liabilities side, the increase in the balance sheet

total is reflected in the higher loans to growers and

other parties, as well as in the increase in group equity.

The effect of this is cancelled out in part by a fall in

members' loans and provisions.

Cash flow
The cash flow from operating activities amounted to

EUR 2.1 million, a fall of EUR 22 million compared with

2015. This can be largely attributed to supply chain

finance activities.

The cash flow from investing activities (EUR 2.9 million

negative) is also considerably lower than in 2015. This

was due to higher investments and in particular to the

proceeds from disposals, which were significantly

higher last year due to the major sales transaction with

WDP (EUR 9.1 million in 2016 versus EUR 50.9 million

in 2015).

Equity and financing
Group equity rose by EUR 8.2 million due to the

positive net profit (EUR 9.0 million), the revaluation of

real estate (EUR 1.7 million negative), exchange

differences (EUR 2.0 million) and other movements

(EUR 1 million negative).

During the course of 2016, The Greenery moved from

special asset management to regular account

management with ING and ABN AMRO. A new three-

year financing agreement was concluded with

Rabobank, Deutsche Bank and DLL at the end of 2016

and will be effected in the first quarter of 2017. This

financing agreement consists of a EUR 40 million

accounts receivable financing facility, a EUR 20 million

credit facility and a EUR 10 million guarantee facility.

Capital base

x EUR million 2016 2015

Equity capital 95.1 86.8

Product funds 5.7 5.8

Provisions for deferred tax

liabilities 15.9 17.5

Mandatory members' loans 39.9 44.4

Pension provision (RJ271) 10.9 8.9

Total capital base 167.5 163.4
Capital base as a percentage of

total assets 54.4% 50.6%

   

The growth of the capital base is fuelled by higher

equity (+ EUR 8 million) and a higher pension provision

(+ EUR 2 million). This was counterbalanced by a

decrease in long-term mandatory members' loans (-

 EUR 4 million) and in the provision for deferred tax

liabilities (- EUR 1 million).
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Risk management

Risks are inherent in entrepreneurship. By consciously balancing our objectives

against the risks we are willing to take, we aim to achieve resilient and socially

responsible business operations. In this way, we increase the chance of achieving

our strategic objectives.

The Greenery views risks as the effects of

uncertainties on the achievement of its objectives, and

strives for an integral risk management approach.

'Integral' means that risk management is based on a

central vision and approach, and that there is a high

degree of certainty that material risks are managed

appropriately. 'Integral' also means that all relevant

risk areas are covered.

Risk management framework
In consultation with the Audit Committee, the General

Management of The Greenery has formulated a risk

management framework which describes the

integrated way in which The Greenery controls the

risks to which it is exposed. The risk management

framework provides the structure within which The

Greenery has developed its risk management in

further detail.

The risk management framework is based on the best

practice COSO ERM model, but its implementation is

tailored to the specific context, needs and vision of

The Greenery.

The General Management are the owners of the risk

management framework and ensure that it is up to

date and communicated to the employees. The risk

management framework is approved by the

Supervisory Board. A risk management framework

review and update takes place centrally at least once a

year, and is carried out by the General Management in

consultation with the management team (MT).

Risks and risk management are a recurring agenda

item at meetings of the General Management and the

Management of The Greenery. In order to manage its

operational risks, The Greenery has taken preventive

measures (including the segregation of duties) and

measures aimed at detecting, recognising and

mitigating potential consequential damage.

For all employees within The Greenery, the risk

management framework is the model for organising

their own processes and work activities from the

perspective of risk management in a responsible and

effective way. This is effected through line

management and is primarily the responsibility of The

Greenery's management team.

Upon their employment, new employees are informed

of the code of conduct and other important standards

that make up part of the management framework,

such as the company's competition policy. This

knowledge is periodically updated through training

sessions. These aspects are also included in

management meetings and during evaluations. All of

this helps to maintain a culture in which it is clear for

everyone that behaviour not in line with the applicable

standards is not accepted.

Risk tolerance
The Greenery's risk tolerance is set out in its mission,

vision and core values. To determine and respond to

risks, it is crucial to be able to identify undesirable

events and obstacles in relation to The Greenery's

objectives. The company faces various strategic,

operational and financial risks which are inherent to its

business acivities and potentially prevent it from

achieving its objectives. Acceptance of a specific risk

level is a necessary condition for The Greenery to

achieve its strategic, operational and financial

objectives. The risk tolerance varies per risk category.
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Overview of the principal risks and
their potential impact
In consultation with operational management, the

General Management has identified the following

strategic and key operational risks and taken

mitigating measures to cover them. We use a risk

matrix as an aid in the assessment of these risks. The

matrix enables us to weigh up the risks based on an

estimate of the chance that a risk materialises and its

consequences for our ability to achieve our objectives.

The matrix includes all the most important risks, with

due regard for the mitigating measures taken.

Risk matrix

Negligible

Pr
ob

ab
ili

ty
/F

re
qu

en
cy

Impact

Minimal Average Maximal Fatal

Very Large

Large

Average

Small

Very Small

1. Failure to meet the quality standards

2. Political instability

3. Demand for sustainability

4. Member base (age, acreage)

5. Product availability in the long term

6. Newcomers/start-ups

7. Loss of clients

8. Dependency on IT

9. Concentration

10.	Qualitative	and	quantitative	staffing

11. Costs

1

4

3   7   8   10

5

2   9   11 6

Risk tolerance

Risk category

Risk

tolerance Notes

Strategic Moderate The Greenery is prepared to take moderate risks in striving to fulfil its ambitions. We

always aim to find the right balance between our sales function for members of

Coöperatie Coforta (low risk tolerance) and the commercial objectives of our business

activities (higher risk tolerance).

Operational Low The Greenery focuses mainly on preserving the continuity of sales of Coöperatie

Coforta members' fruit and vegetables, regardless of circumstances. We aim to

manage the risks that could jeopardise this continuity wherever possible. Our risk

tolerance here is low. In the area of food safety, the risk tolerance is relatively low and

preventive measures such as testing and 'tracking and tracing' are in place.

Financial Low We aim for a solid financial position, to ensure continuity. Where possible and

appropriate, financial risks are covered or insured.

Compliance None The Greenery aims to comply with all applicable laws and regulations as well as client

requirements. We pay special attention to laws and regulations as well as client

requirements in the areas of crop protection agents, food safety, environment,

competition, corporate social responsibility and sustainable business practices.
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Strategic and operational risks

Risks Control measures

Food safety and quality
The risk that cultivated products fail to

meet the required quality standards,

which could result in stagnation in the

sales of our members' products

We use certification and inspection (in part by our own inspectors) to

safeguard food safety, based on a plan prepared by the Quality &

Environment department. In addition to inspections, the system provides for

the implementation of hygiene and detection measures.

Political instability
The risk of stagnation in supply and/or

sales as a result of political instability in

Europe causing changes in laws and

regulations, capital restrictions, labour

or exchange rates.

Changes in laws and regulations and in the political climate in our principal

purchasing and sales markets are monitored. If necessary, we examine

possibilities to divert product flows so as to avoid disruption.

Demand for sustainability
The risk of a decline in demand for The

Greenery's products among buyers due

to a lack of attention for the

sustainability of products, cultivation

methods and business processes.

The Greenery uses certification (GRASP, Milieukeur etc.) to promote the

sustainability of its product range. In addition, the company takes internal

measures to make its own business processes more sustainable. The results

are measured and accounted for in a variety of reports (including the annual

report).

Membership
If The Greenery's members are no longer

able to supply products of the required

quality and in the required volumes, this

entails risks for the company. It is

crucial, therefore, to ensure that the

members continue to meet the

applicable qualitative and quantitative

standards.

To prevent a further decrease in the number of members, membership

should offer sufficient benefits, such as prices in line with the market, access

to high-profile clients, high-quality logistics and streamlined administrative

processes. Various initiatives have been taken to make membership more

attractive. In addition, efforts are being made to recruit new members.

Long-term availability of products
The risk that products are not available,

or not available in sufficient quantities,

in the long term with adverse

consequences for sales, revenue and

profitability.

The control measures to ensure long-term availability of products are in line

with those taken to attract and retain members. Furthermore, we actively

examine opportunities for sourcing from contracted suppliers alongside the

sourcing from our members. By building permanent relationships with

clients, we are able to offer long-term perspectives to both our members

and to contracted suppliers.

Newcomers / start-ups
The risk of disruption of the

horticultural sector (sales market) as a

result of the activities of start-ups using

disruptive technological innovations,

causing stagnation in supplies and/or

sales of The Greenery's products.

New developments and potential start-ups are monitored. In addition, The

Greenery examines opportunities to incorporate new technologies in the

chain.

Loss of clients
The risk that the client focus in terms of

price, quantity and/or quality does not

sufficiently respond to client wishes and

requirements, resulting in the loss of

buyers and revenue.

In order to ensure that every client receives the right amount and type of

attention, the decision was made to employ a differentiated approach to

ensure focused client treatment on the basis of revenue, revenue potential

and size. Again, the reorganisation efforts focused on ensuring optimal

service for clients. At the beginning of 2016, a new organisational structure

was implemented with the aim of providing optimal services for the various

client groups. This new structure is regularly reviewed and improvements are

made where necessary.
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Strategic and operational risks (continued)

Risks Control measures

Dependence on automation
The risk of failure and disruption of

the system, potentially resulting in

loss of data and production delays.

The advancing automation of operational processes has resulted in an

increasing dependence on these systems, which means any disruption

will have a greater impact. The company has located its server park with

a specialised external party, and made specific agreements with that

party on system availability. Communication lines are duplicated and

fall-back scenarios are available where possible. Employees are trained

in the correct use of the systems.

Concentration
The progressive concentration on

both the supply and demand sides

poses a risk for The Greenery, as this

has a negative impact on its

negotiating position.

The Greenery is open to partnerships that can strengthen its position

and is actively examining possibilities to take steps in that direction. The

company is also developing strategic initiatives to promote growth.

Qualitative and quantitative staff
levels
To ensure effective business

operations, The Greenery depends on

staff of the right quality and in the

right numbers.

High-quality recruitment and selection and an effective training and

assessment system are in place to ensure staffing levels remain up to

standard. Initiatives aimed at promoting long-term deployability help

employees stay fit and productive for longer. In addition, The Greenery

also monitors working conditions to ensure maximum safety in the work

environment.

Compliance
Violation of laws and standards in the

area of crop protection agents and

food safety, but also in the area of

honest and ethical business practices,

forms a key risk for the company. This

is further complicated by the fact that

The Greenery operates in various

countries.

To prevent such violations, a process is in place that begins by ensuring

that all players in the chain are properly informed about the applicable

norms and regulations. Next, the quality assurance department

performs random tests to determine the extent to which the prescribed

standards are met. This involves close collaboration with clients and

reputable testing institutions or independent certifiers. Employees and

suppliers are trained in appropriate conduct and their compliance is

tested. The tracking-and-tracing system enables the company to

respond as soon as any irregularity is identified in the area of crop

protection or food safety, so as to limit the consequences as much as

possible.

Costs
The success of The Greenery depends

on the degree to which it is able to

operate at market-compatible costs.

This means that excessively high

costs form a risk.

In order to monitor the market conformity of costs, tariffs charged are

tested externally where possible. Indications that the costs are excessive

are investigated and, where necessary, the cost structure is adjusted.
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The key financial risks to which The Greenery is

exposed are market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk.

The market risk can be divided further into price risk,

interest rate risk and currency risk. These risks are

continuously and closely monitored internally. To

manage these risks, The Greenery uses financial

derivatives and other instruments. The company does

not take any speculative positions with financial

instruments in this regard.

Financial risks

Risks Control measures

Price risk
The Greenery runs a price risk on its

economic inventory. In addition, the

company trades iin perishable

products whose value, in principle,

decreases over time.

The Greenery has a well-designed ERP system for the effective management of

inventories and price risks.

Interest rate risk
The variation in interest rates has an

impact on the (direct) result.

The Greenery's interest rate policy is aimed at limiting this risk and works as

follows: for variable interest rate liabilities, the interest is fixed through interest

rate swaps. The effectiveness of the hedges is evaluated periodically, and the

hedges are subject to hedge accounting.

Currency risk
The Greenery runs the risk of

currency fluctuations with regard to

its purchasing and sales activities

abroad.

The net currency position is hedged periodically.

Liquidity risk
There is a risk that The Greenery does

not have access to the required

liquidity when needed.

The company aims to limit liquidity risk by guaranteeing availability of an

accounts receivable financing facility to support operational activities and to

meet its financial obligations. Accounts receivable financing in 2016 met the

full financing requirement, also because The Greenery sold real estate in that

year so as to build up a financial buffer to absorb shortfalls. This buffer can also

be used if, due to higher market prices or volume, the working capital

increases.

Credit risk
The Greenery runs a credit risk when

a counterparty fails to meet its

obligations with regard to a financial

instrument or a contract with a buyer,

causing financial loss. The Greenery is

also exposed to credit risk in

connection with its business activities

(primarily trade receivables) and in

connection with its financial

activities, including currency

transactions and other financial

instruments.

Where possible, the trade receivables are placed with a credit insurer. For

uninsurable trade receivables, we apply internal limits which are strictly

monitored. The Greenery also provides harvest advances on a limited scale and

in exceptional cases, which are paid back through the delivery of products. The

concentration risk is limited as we work with many different buyers. For the

largest of them, we apply supply chain finance programmes to rule out

concentration risk in these relationships.

On the reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to the

book value of the receivables and cash and cash equivalents, as indicated in

the respective notes. The Greenery considers that the credit risk is low because

a significant part of its trade receivables are insured. The credit balances held

at banks are all credit balances at reputable banks. Receivables as a result of

harvest advances involve a higher risk, as these are dependent on weather and

market conditions.
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Risks that materialised in 2016
In 2016, the following risks materialised:

1. Membership: at the start of the financial year a

number of members left Coöperatie Coforta, as a

result of which members' volume at The Greenery

has fallen. This was compensated in part by the

increase in volume through contracted

purchasing compared with the preceding years,

but not sufficiently to make up entirely for the loss

of members' volume.

2. Dependence on automation: on several occasions

during the financial year the operational process

was disrupted as a result of automation failures.

The causes of these failures were varied and

concerned problems in the data connections, the

external computer centre and the company

software. As all of these problems were solved

within a reasonable period of time, their impact

on The Greenery's output was limited. The failures

have prompted the company to take measures to

make the network more robust and further

professionalise follow-up in the event of alerts,

allowing for a faster response.

Embedding of risk management in the
organisation
In 2016, The Greenery completed the process of

establishing critical success factors in relation to its

core processes. The success factors and the associated

risk management measures have since been assigned

to the relevant line managers. Operational risk

management is focused on the management of the

quality of core processes, in such a way that the quality

requirements for products/services are achieved.

Line management is therefore co-responsible for

implementation of the risk management policy, and

renders account to the General Management on this

on a regular basis. Risk management is an integral part

of the regular reporting cycle and integrated into the

planning and control process.

The General Management reports on and renders

account for the design and operation of the risk

management framework to the Supervisory Board

after preliminary discussion in the Audit Committee.

To support both the General Management and the

Audit Committee in their efforts to safeguard the risk

management framework, an Internal Auditor was

appointed in the first quarter of the reporting year. The

Internal Auditor ensures proper, timely and high-

quality audit reporting to the Management Board and

the Audit Committee in response to the audits that

have been performed, and issues advice on possible

measures to improve the risk management

framework. 

Improvements to the risk
management framework
Operational risks are controlled and monitored via the

process owners, who perform regular tests of the

existence and operation of control measures in the

company's processes.

In 2017, there will be further emphasis on efforts to

highlight the control measures that have been

implemented. This year will also see efforts to assess

and, where necessary, adjust the current status of risks

and control measures in relation to the objectives

formulated by the company and its various

departments.

The risk attitude is reflected in the three components

which together constitute the pillars of the risk

management framework. One of those pillars is made

up of the organisational parameters. This concerns

control measures that apply to the organisation as a

whole and safeguard its core values. The second pillar

concerns the strategic risks. The adequacy of

measures on organisational parameters and strategic

risks with low risk tolerance levels will be tested in

2017.

Prunus persica nucipersica (nectarine)
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Outlook for 2017

The strategy focusing on supply chain cooperation and cost-price leadership has

generated good results thus far. By making substantial investments in 2016 in

logistics and in updating its means of production, accommodation and ICT, The

Greenery is now better equipped to take on future challenges.

All of these projects involved non-recurrent costs.

Other non-recurrent costs were incurred in connection

with the sale of non-core activities and the

restructuring of loss-making operations. Despite all

these non-recurrent costs, profitability levels further

improved in 2016, not least as a result of the decrease

in financing costs.

Financing
The availability of sufficient funding − in the form of

working capital, for instance − is essential for the

enterprise. Thanks to improved profitability and the

result of the various balance sheet optimisations, at

year-end 2016 The Greenery was able to contract a

new three-year financing facility at substantially

better conditions compared with previous

arrangements. The new financing facility not only

meets The Greenery's current financing requirements,

but also enables the company to achieve its growth

ambitions.

In 2016, it was decided to temporarily discontinue the

EU's Common Market Organisation (CMO) grant

applications in 2017. This means that The Greenery

will not apply for CMO subsidies this year. The

resulting lower cash inflow has been calculated in the

budget for 2017. In 2017 the company will decide

whether to submit a new multi-year strategy and 2018

annual plan for 2018 and beyond, or to stop applying

for CMO funds altogether.

The Management Board is aware that net profits and

the associated free cash flows are essential for The

Greenery's continuity, and its objectives in this regard

will not change.

Commercial outlook
In the longer term, it is important for The Greenery's

continuity to ensure that the volumes supplied by its

members through its affiliated Coforta cooperative

remain sufficient. Despite the visible improvements in

commercial and financial results, the members'

volume is still decreasing. The long-term development

of the members' volume is the criterion by which the

success of the organisational changes will be

measured.

In view of the trend in members' volume, we expect to

see a slight decrease in the total sales volume in 2017.

At the same time, we expect sales to retail clients in

particular to show further growth, in line with our

strategy to focus on serving end consumers in the

supply chain.

In 2017, we expect contracted purchasing to account

for a larger share of the volume. However, we will also

continue our efforts to increase the members' volume.

In 2016, Coöperatie Coforta launched a number of

initiatives that should make membership more

attractive. The implementation of the associated

measures will begin in 2017. This includes the

introduction of a variable interest rate on members'

loans, shortening the term of new members' loans

from eight to four years, and more direct influence for

members on The Greenery's policies.

In 2017 we will also continue initiatives to optimise

collaboration between the various business units so as

to further improve customer service.

The Greenery will remain open to participation in

partnerships that can strengthen its position.
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Outlook for 2017
The programme for 2017 includes further investments

in the logistics network. The aim of these investments

is to reduce the number of distribution centres for The

Greenery to three, compared with the five centres

currently in use. This project will involve non-recurring

costs, since the company's operations will have to

continue as normal during construction. In addition,

2017 will see the further implementation and

optimisation of the retail strategy and projects to

increase our commercial strength. The company will

be able to pick the first fruits of these efforts from the

end of 2017.

The Greenery's results are influenced by weather

conditions, which are unpredictable. The Management

Board nevertheless expects to see a modest

improvement in the company's profitability in 2017,

despite the non-recurring costs and temporary loss of

productivity during the process to upgrade our logistic

environment. In 2017, The Greenery will maintain its

focus on cost control.

Steven Martina CEO of The Greenery B.V.

Philip Limvers CFO of The Greenery B.V.

Barendrecht, 15 March 2017

  

Solanum esculentum 'Chica' (Chica tomato)
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Corporate governance

Rheum rhabarbarum (rhubarb)

Basic principles
The governance structure within Coforta/The

Greenery is of the 'hourglass' model, in which the

Management Board of the Cooperative and the

Members' Council constitute the most senior body

within the Cooperative, and with the General

Management and a Supervisory Board for the

company. A two-tier board structure is in place. The

Greenery’s Articles of Association incorporate a

derogation from law regarding the Supervisory Board

appointments procedure for two-tier board companies

in that the Supervisory Board is appointed by

cooptation. A covenant has been concluded with the

Works Council containing agreements on the

composition of the Supervisory Board, the

recommendation rights of the Works Council and the

appointment of members of the Supervisory Board.

The company's two-tier structure includes a statutory

General Management and a Supervisory Board. At

year-end 2016, the General Management comprised

two members.

At year-end 2016, the Supervisory Board comprised

six members. These are the four members of the

Cooperative’s Management Board and two 'external'

members.

Shareholding structure
All shares in the capital of The Greenery B.V. are held

by Coöperatie Coforta U.A. The management and

supervisory structure of the two legal entities is

described in a model.

Management Board of the
Cooperative
The Members’ Council appoints the Cooperative’s

Management Board, which had five members at the

close of 2016, all of whom were members of the

Cooperative. The composition of the Management

Board reflects the best possible mix of representatives

from the Cooperative’s membership based on regions

and product groups. The Management Board is

responsible for serving the interests of the

Cooperative’s members and the business conducted

by the Cooperative through The Greenery and its

subsidiaries.

The Greenery B.V. General
Management
Under the Articles of Association, the General

Management, which at the end of 2016 comprised two

directors, is responsible for managing The Greenery.

This includes formulating strategy and policy as well

as defining and achieving The Greenery’s objectives.
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The General Management is accountable to the

Supervisory Board and to the General Meeting.

Under the Articles of Association, the directors are

appointed by the Supervisory Board for a four-year

term. The Supervisory Board determines the

remuneration and other terms of employment for the

General Management members in accordance with the

remuneration policy approved by the General Meeting.

Remuneration policy for the General
Management
The purpose of the remuneration policy is to attract,

motivate and retain experienced and qualified

directors for the General Management. The

remuneration structure for the General Management

aims to ensure an optimal balance between the short-

term results of the company and its long-term

objectives.

The total remuneration for statutory General

Management members is comprised of the following

components:

• a fixed basic salary;

• variable remuneration for performance in the short

term (one year);

• variable remuneration for performance in the long

term (three years);

• a pension plan.

Basic salary
Once a year, on the Selection Committee's

recommendation, the Supervisory Board determines

whether and, if so, the extent to which the basic salary

should be adapted, with due regard for, among other

things, market developments and the company's

results.

Variable remuneration for the short term
Statutory General Management members qualify for

an annual bonus depending on the extent to which

they have achieved pre-determined targets

concerning the operating result, cash flow,

collaboration etc. These targets are set by the

Supervisory Board at the beginning of the reporting

year. This largely performance-related annual bonus

can add a maximum of 30% to the basic salary of the

member concerned.

Variable remuneration for the long term
The remuneration for statutory General Management

members' long-term performance is geared to the

achievement of the targets set out in the Strategic

Plan and value creation over a period of three years.

The long-term bonus can increase the basic salary by a

maximum of 30%.

Pension plan
The General Management takes part in a pension plan

approximately half of the costs of which are borne by

the employer.

Legal structure

Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Members

External

Members’ Council General Meeting

Supervisory Board

General Management

Management Board

The Greenery B.V.

Full ownership
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Supervisory Board of The Greenery
B.V.
The Supervisory Board supervises the policy pursued

by the General Management as well as general

developments within The Greenery and its businesses.

In performing its tasks, the Supervisory Board aims to

promote the interests of the company and its

stakeholders.

The Greenery is subject to a statutory two-tier regime,

which means that the Supervisory Board has been

accorded the powers specified in Book 2, Title 5, Part 6

of the Dutch Civil Code, including the appointment of

the General Management and the approval of General

Management resolutions defined by law.

Furthermore, certain General Management resolutions

defined in the Articles of Association require prior

Supervisory Board approval.

Composition and appointment
At year-end 2016, the Supervisory Board comprised

six members, including four members of the

Cooperative’s Management Board and two Supervisory

Board members who are not members of the

Cooperative. The chairman of the Supervisory Board is

Mr B.J. Feijtel, and Mr G.W. Pronk is its vice-chairman.

Supervisory Board committees
The Supervisory Board has established an Audit

Committee and a Selection Committee from among its

members.

Audit Committee
At year-end 2016, the members of the Audit

Committee were Messrs E.D. Drok (chairman), G.W.

Pronk and T. van Noord. The Audit Committee is

responsible for advising and helping the Supervisory

Board prepare decisions on financial matters. 

Selection Committee
At year-end 2016, the members of the Selection

Committee were Messrs G.W. Pronk (acting chairman),

B.J. Feijtel and T. van Noord, and Ms A.E. Ter Laak. The

Selection Committee is responsible for advising and

helping the Supervisory Board prepare decisions

concerning the selection, appointment and

reappointment of directors and Supervisory Board

members. 

General Meeting of The Greenery B.V.
In the company’s General Meeting, matters handled

include the adoption of The Greenery’s financial

statements and granting The Greenery’s management

discharge from liability in respect of the performance

of its duties. Furthermore, General Meeting approval is

required for certain resolutions adopted by The

Greenery’s General Management as described in the

Articles of Association, such as the adoption of the

strategic business plan and budget.

Share capital
The company has issued Class A shares and

cumulative Class B preference shares. All Class A and B

shares are held by the Cooperative, which means that

the Cooperative has complete control at the General

Meeting of Shareholders. During a General Meeting of

Shareholders, the Management Board of the

Cooperative exercises the voting rights attached to the

shares on behalf of the Cooperative.

Capsicum annuum (pepper)
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Report of the
Supervisory Board

Litchi chinensis (lychee)

Supervision and advice
The 2016 reporting year marked a turning point for

The Greenery, as the focus in atmosphere and

procedures again turned to the future. The Greenery

celebrated its 20th anniversary on 4 and 5 November

with a visible and perceptible emphasis on innovation

and confidence in the future. Moreover, in 2016

substantial investments were made in the logistics

processes, as evidenced by the splendid new premises

in Barendrecht and Breda. Due to its optimal logistics

processes, The Greenery has been able to precisely and

efficiently organise the sales chain for fruit and

vegetables.

Supervisory Board activities
The Supervisory Board met on seven occasions in the

reporting year. Meetings were held both in the

presence and in the absence of the General

Management. Important discussion topics were the

new CEO, refinancing, the organisational structure, the

new strategy and risk management. Furthermore,

various new building projects were discussed as well as

financial and commercial developments. In the

reporting year the Supervisory Board met with the

Works Council on several occasions and also held

regular consultations with the members of The

Greenery's management team. In 2016, the

Supervisory Board evaluated its performance under

the supervision of an independent party.

The Audit Committee's activities
The Audit Committee met four times in 2016 to

prepare for resolutions by the Supervisory Board on

the 2015 Annual Report and financial statements, the

2017 budget and other matters. The committee made

preparations for the 2016 audit and discussed various

topics including the internal audit plan, the

management letter, refinancing and risk management.

The Selection Committee's activities
The Selection Committee met seven times during the

reporting year. The committee worked on the

recruitment and selection of a new CEO and

Supervisory Board members, resulting in the

appointment of Mr S.A. Martina to the position of CEO

in February 2016 and the appointment of Ms A.E. Ter

Laak as Supervisory Board member in July 2016. In

addition, the Selection Committee prepared the

evaluation of the Supervisory Board's performance.

Succession planning and the division of tasks among
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the Board members were further topics discussed. As a

result of the latter, changes were made to the

composition of the committees.

Changes in the composition of the
Supervisory Board
Mr Van der Wouw retired as a Supervisory Board

member of The Greenery with effect from 12 April

2016. Ms Ter Laak joined the Supervisory Board with

effect from 12 April 2016. Mr Feijtel was a member of

the Audit Committee until 6 April 2016 and joined the

Selection Committee with effect from that date. Mr

Van Noord joined the Audit Committee on 6 April

2016. Mr Drok sat on the Selection Committee until

21 September 2016 and Ms Ter Laak joined this

committee on 21 September 2016. For further details,

please see the biographies on page 52.

Financial Statements
The Supervisory Board has read The Greenery’s 2016

Annual Report prepared by the General Management,

including the financial statements consisting of the

balance sheet as at 31 December 2016, the income

statement for the year then ended and the relevant

notes. The 2016 financial statements were initially

discussed by the Supervisory Board’s Audit

Committee, and subsequently by the full Supervisory

Board along with the General Management and the

auditor, Deloitte Accountants B.V. With due

observance of the report on the financial statements

drawn up by Deloitte Accountants and the unqualified

audit opinion issued, by way of approval the

Supervisory Board members signed the financial

statements. The Supervisory Board also approved the

profit appropriation proposal presented by the General

Management.

The financial statements were submitted to the

General Meeting of Shareholders for consideration

and adoption. The Supervisory Board proposes that

the General Meeting adopt the financial statements

and grant the General Management discharge from

liability for the management conducted over the past

financial year as well as the Supervisory Board for the

supervision it has carried out in this regard.

Word of thanks
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the General

Management, the management and all The Greenery’s

employees for their commitment and efforts

throughout the past year.

Chicorium endiva (endive)
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governing bodies



The Greenery B.V. General Management

Steven (S.A.) Martina (b. 1976)

Position: Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Appointed on: 23 February 2016

Background: Economist and lawyer with extensive

experience in a range of commercial roles within The

Greenery.

Philip (P.R.) Limvers (b. 1964)

Position: Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

Appointed on: 9 February 2015

Background: Business economist with over 25 years of

experience in managerial positions at companies in

the Netherlands and abroad, including Randstad, ICTS

and G4S.
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The Greenery B.V. Supervisory Board
Composition as at 1 March 2017

Bas (B.J.) Feijtel (b. 1967)

Position: Chairman of the

Supervisory Board and

member of the Selection

Committee of The Greenery

B.V., and member of the

Management Board of

Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Appointed to Supervisory

Board:

11 February 2009

Appointed chairman:

17 December 2015

Profession: Fruit grower, 33 ha

of pears

Background: Mr Feijtel has

vast experience as provincial

secretary for ZLTO and

Zeeland Province. He also has

political experience, having

been a member of the Zeeland

Provincial Council until March

2015. Has worked in

supervisory roles at various

organisations, including

Rabobank, and currently at

a housing corporation. He is

an agricultural economist and

owns a modern fruit growing

business that mainly

specialises in the cultivation

and cold storage of pears.

Gerard (G.W.) Pronk (b. 1960)

Position: Vice-chairman of the

Supervisory Board and

member of the Audit and

Selection Committees of The

Greenery B.V., and chairman of

the Management Board of

Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Appointed to Supervisory

Board:

16 December 2014

Appointed vice-chairman:

1 April 2015

Profession: Fruit grower, 22 ha

of pears

Background: Mr Pronk has

vast experience in

administrative positions. He

chaired the Product Advisory

Committee (PAC), served as

the local and principal director

of the Dutch Fruit Growers'

Organisation and as an

administrator within the

North Sea Pears alliance. Mr

Pronk grows, stores, sorts and

processes pears at his own

company and for 20 other

growers in the same region.

Theo (T.W.) van Noord (b.

1972)

Position: Member of the

Supervisory Board and the

Audit Committee of The

Greenery B.V., and vice-

chairman of the Management

Board of Coöperatie Coforta

U.A.

Appointed to Supervisory

Board:

28 March 2012

Profession: Tomato grower, 14

ha of greenhouses, partly with

artificial lighting. Also owns a

packing station.

Background: Mr Van Noord

has vast administrative

experience. He served as a

Board member of Trospartners

growers' association. In

addition to running his

tomato growing business, Mr

Van Noord runs a business

called Noordhuys Packing,

which provides retail packing

services for all its own

tomatoes and those grown by

third parties. Noordhuys

Packing also serves as an SSL

location that collaborates

closely with The Greenery.

Anouk (A.E.) Ter Laak (1966)

Position: Member of the

Supervisory Board and

member of the Selection

Committee of The Greenery

B.V.

Appointed to Supervisory

Board:

28 July 2016

Profession: CEO of SVZ

International and member of

the Group Executive Board of

Royal Cosun

Background: Ms Ter Laak has

over 25 years' experience in

various strategic and

management roles in the

Netherlands and abroad in

both the retail and food

service sectors. She currently

works as CEO at SVZ, an

international business

specialised in fruit and

vegetable ingredients. She

also is a member of the Group

Executive Board of Royal

Cosun, an agro-industrial

group with a cooperative

basis.
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Anton (A.W.G.M.) Hop (b.

1957)

Position: Member of the

Supervisory Board of The

Greenery B.V., and Board

member / member of the

Members' Affairs Committee

of Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Appointed to Supervisory

Board:

1 April 2005

Profession: Field vegetables

grower, approx. 50 ha

Background: Mr Hop has vast

experience in administrative

positions, including on the

Product Advisory Committee

for Field-Grown Vegetables

and on sales committees.

Eric (E.D.) Drok (b. 1960)

Position: Member of the

Supervisory Board and chair of

the Audit Committee of The

Greenery B.V.

Appointed to Supervisory

Board:

4 November 2015

Profession: Supervisory Board

member, non-executive

director and corporate advisor

in the financial and retail

sectors.

Background: Business

economist and corporate

lawyer with over 25 years'

experience in executive

positions in the Dutch and

international financial sectors.

Nancy (N.) Peeters (b. 1975)

Position: Member of the

Supervisory Board of The

Greenery B.V. and member of

the Management Board of

Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

Appointed to Supervisory

Board:

18 February 2017

Profession: Soft-fruit grower,

2 ha of strawberries

Background: Ms Peeters has

experience as a member of

the Rabobank Tilburg

Members' Council and in

various roles in associations.

She and her husband Jeroen

have been running De Goeije

Kroon, a strawberry nursery,

since 2005, where they

cultivate the Elsanta variety in

greenhouses.
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Financial 
Statements 2016
The Greenery B.V.
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Lepista nuda (wood blewit)
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Consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December
(before profit appropriation)

in thousands of euros Notes 2016 2015

Assets

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 14 15,738 18,252

Tangible fixed assets 15 145,126 147,024

Financial fixed assets 16 52,885 49,162

213,749 214,438
Current assets
Inventories 17 12,440 11,895

Receivables and accruals 18 84,741 83,078

Cash and cash equivalents 15,779 13,182

112,960 108,155

Total assets 326,709 322,593

Liabilities

Group equity 19

Shareholders' equity 95,177 86,960

Non-controlling interest (129) (140)

95,048 86,820
Provisions and liabilities
Product funds 20 5,536 5,797

Provisions 21 32,876 40,635

Long-term liabilities 22 51,652 51,519

Current liabilities and accruals 23 141,597 137,822

231,661 235,773

Total liabilities 326,709 322,593
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Consolidated income statement

in thousands of euros Notes 2016 2015

Net revenue 26 1,029,677 1,106,986

Cost of sales and subcontracted work 876,668 939,429

Wages and salaries 51,204 55,849

Social security charges 7,805 8,728

Pension costs 6,376 6,041

Depreciation 27 14,119 15,262

Impairments of tangible and intangible fixed assets 28 1,296 4,882

Other operating expenses 29 69,642 73,055

Total operating expenses 1,027,110 1,103,246

Operating profit 2,567 3,740

Financial income and expenses 30 (4,006) (7,934)

Income on ordinary activities before tax (1,439) (4,194)

Taxes on income on ordinary activities 31 (550) (2,708)

Income from associates 19 11,000 11,026

Group net income after tax 9,011 4,124

Non-controlling interest (15) (13)

Income attributable to the equity holders 8,996 4,111
    

592016 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.



Statement of comprehensive income

in thousands of euros Notes 2016 2015

Group result after tax 9,011 4,124

Movement in UK pension provision 39 (222) 259

Revaluation of property on sale 39 (1,715) (4,081)

Movements due to exchange differences 39 1,967 (2,116)

Other movements 39 (813) -

Total comprehensive income 8,228 (1,814)

Allocation of comprehensive income

Comprehensive income attributable to the equity holders 8,217 (1,813)

Non-controlling interest in comprehensive income 11 (1)

Total comprehensive income 8,228 (1,814)
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Consolidated cash flow statement
According to the indirect method

in thousands of euros Notes 2016 2015

Operating activities
Operating profit 2,567 3,740

Depreciation 27 14,119 15,262

Impairment on tangible and intangible fixed assets 28 1,296 4,882

Release of property, plant and equipment-related EU grants (2,181) (2,297)

Results on sale of group companies 1,526 -

Book results on sale of assets (106) -

Movement in provisions (6,027) (4,222)

Movement in working capital (3,251) 23,199

Operational cash flow 7,943 40,564
Interest (paid)/received 30 (2,122) (6,283)

Corporate income tax (paid)/received 31 (3,717) (9,824)

Cash flow from operating activities 2,104 24,457

Investing activities
Investments in intangible fixed assets 14 (1,131) (689)

Investments in property, plant and equipment 15 (19,160) (5,306)

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 15 9,120 50,903

Sales of group companies 1,000 -

Loan redemption 1,531 436

Loans granted (266) (4,374)

Dividends received 6,014 4,910

Cash flow from investing activities (2,892) 45,880

Cash flow from operating and investing activities (788) 70,337

Financing activities
Increase in bank loans and other loans 22 12,298 1,893

Redemptions of bank loans and other loans 22 (1,918) (55,900)

Increase of members' loans 22 3,814 4,237

Redemption of members' loans 22 (10,169) (10,497)

Movement in product funds 20 (261) (1,686)

Cash flow from financing activities 3,764 (61,953)

Net cash flow 2,976 8,384
Exchange and translation differences in cash and cash

equivalents (379) 117

Movements in cash and cash equivalents 2,597 8,501

Cash and cash equivalents
Balance as at 1 January 13,182 4,681

Movements 2,597 8,501

Balance as at 31 December 15,779 13,182
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General notes

The Greenery B.V. ('the company') was incorporated on 31 May 1996, has its

registered office in The Hague and is listed in the Trade Register of the Chamber

of Commerce in Rotterdam under number 16086757. Coöperatie Coforta U.A.

('the Cooperative'), having its registered office in The Hague, holds 100% of the

shares in the company. The actual address of both the company and the

Cooperative is Spoorwegemplacement 1 in Barendrecht.

The amounts included in the notes are in thousands of euros, unless stated otherwise.

1 Principal activities
The Greenery is a leading, international company

engaged in obtaining a full assortment of fruit,

vegetables and mushrooms from around the world and

supplying these fresh to its clients every day, all year

round. Its clients are mainly wholesalers and

supermarket chains in Europe and North America. The

company also supplies caterers and industry. The

Greenery B.V. has branches in 11 countries and its

policy and approach focus on market orientation, food

safety, sustainability, innovation and logistics

efficiency.

2 Continuity

Developments in 2016
The strategy focusing on supply chain cooperation and

cost-price leadership launched in 2014 also generated

good results in 2016. Profitability further improved in

2016, despite the high costs associated with the

disposal, restructuring or closure of loss-making

activities and non-core activities.

EBITDA amounted to EUR 18 million against EUR 24

million in 2015. Despite the lower EBITDA, net profit

more than doubled to EUR 9 million (2015: EUR 4

million).

A new three-year financing agreement was concluded

with Deutsche Bank, Rabobank and DLL at the end of

2016. The new financing agreement consists of a EUR

40 million accounts receivable financing facility, a EUR

20 million credit facility and a EUR 10 million

guarantee facility. The new financing agreement

creates a solid financial basis not only because it

meets The Greenery's current financing requirements

but also enables the company to achieve its growth

plans. At year-end 2016, The Greenery fulfilled the

covenants of the loan agreement.

In 2016, the plans aimed at streamlining and

optimising The Greenery's logistical processes were

further implemented. Against this background, the old

Retail DC in Barendrecht was sold to WDP so that a

new state-of-the-art DC can be developed on the

premises in two phases. Upon completion of the new

DC (scheduled for 2019), two other DCs will be

disposed of to further reduce the operating costs.

At the end of 2016, The Greenery received a notice

from the Netherlands Enterprise Agency (RVO)

following an inspection, in which not all requirements

for CMO (Common Market Organisation) recognition

were found to have been fulfilled. Based on the notice,

the CMO payments were temporarily suspended. The

Greenery subsequently took corrective measures, on

the grounds of which RVO withdrew the notice with

effect from 7 February.

Outlook for 2017 and beyond
A favourable operating result is expected to be posted

in 2017 despite the one-off costs associated with the

construction of the new DC in Barendrecht. The

decline in members' volume, however, continues to be

a concern. Even though the outflow of Coforta

members who subsequently joined another

cooperative was halted in 2016, the members' volume

continued to decline due to the cessation and sale of

businesses. In 2016, various measures were set out

aimed at making membership of Coöperatie Coforta

more attractive. These measures will be implemented

in 2017.

On the advice of The Greenery's General Management,

the Management Board of Coöperatie Coforta decided
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to postpone CMO subsidy applications in 2017 given

that many areas of the new National Strategy were still

unclear. The lack of CMO funds has been taken into

consideration in the budget for 2017. Whether a new

plan will be prepared and submitted for 2018 and

subsequent years will be reviewed in 2017.

Management has prepared a liquidity forecast in order

to assess whether the company will be able to meet its

commitments in 2017 and thereafter. To that end, it

has prepared assumptions regarding volume and price

developments, operating expenses, working capital

and potential risks. These assumptions are updated on

an ongoing basis. Based on the outlook for 2017,

Management believes that the covenants of the loan

agreement will be fulfilled in 2017.

Based on the liquidity forecast, Management expects

to have sufficient financial resources to continue

meeting its obligations. Hence, it has applied the

'going concern' assumption in preparing the financial

statements.

3 Disposals
In 2016, Mulder Onions B.V., a group company, was

sold. Furthermore, eight non-active companies were

dissolved in the course of the year.

4 Basis of consolidation
The company's consolidated financial statements

include the financial data of the group companies that

the company controls. The consolidated financial

statements have been prepared in accordance with the

accounting policies of the company.

The company's financial data are included in the

consolidated financial statements and, in accordance

with Section 402 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the

company income statement has therefore been drawn

up in an abridged form.

The financial data of group companies and other legal

entities and companies included in the consolidation

are consolidated in full. Intercompany balances and

transactions have been eliminated. Non-controlling

interests in the equity and results of group companies

are disclosed separately in the consolidated financial

statements.

The results of newly acquired group companies and

other legal entities and companies included in the

consolidation are consolidated from the date of

acquisition, unless stated otherwise. The results of

divested associates are consolidated until the date

they left the group.

A list of the names and registered offices of group

companies and associates has been filed at the

Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam. An abridged list

of group companies is included in the List of

subsidiaries and associates. <static text missing -

targetNode.pagenr-prefix >88<static text missing -

targetNode.pagenr-suffix >.

5 Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9 of

Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Unless stated otherwise, assets and liabilities are

stated and the result is determined at historical cost.

Income and expenses are allocated to the year to

which they relate. Profits are recognised only if realised

at the balance sheet date. Losses originating before

the end of the financial year are recognised if they are

known before the financial statements are prepared.

Use of estimations
In line with the generally accepted accounting

principles, the preparation of the financial statements

requires that Management forms opinions and makes

estimates and assumptions that have an impact on the

amounts stated in the financial statements. The actual

figures may differ from these estimates. The estimates

and the underlying assumptions are regularly

reviewed. Revisions of estimates are recognised in the

period in which the estimate was revised if the revision

only has consequences for that period, and in future

periods if the revision also has consequences for

future periods

Impairment of assets
A regular review is carried out to determine whether

there are any indications that the book value of the

qualifying assets are subject to impairment losses. If

there are any such indications, an estimate is made of

the realisable value of the asset based on the present

value of the expected future cash flows, or the net

realisable value. If the book value is higher than the

net realisable value, an impairment loss is taken to the

result.

6 Change in accounting policy
In 2016, the replacement value was changed to

current cost for the valuation of buildings and land. A

further refinement of RJ Statement 2 2017 'Current

Cost' offers the option of applying the historical cost

perspective. Due to this change in the rules, The

Greenery has chosen to state buildings and land at
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historical cost rather than current cost from 2016

onwards to comply with this accounting policy. The

book value at the end of the 2015 financial year is

taken as the basis, and is subsequently assumed to be

the historical cost. This change in accounting policy

has no impact on equity at the beginning of the

financial year in which it is adopted. The effect on the

result is EUR 0.4 million net in additional depreciation.

7 Financial instruments
Financial instruments refer to both primary financial

instruments such as receivables and liabilities, and to

financial derivatives. Please refer to the treatment per

balance sheet item for the accounting policies relating

to the primary financial instruments.

The company's policy is aimed at reducing the risks to

an acceptable level, where possible. This includes

managing credit risks (mainly debtor risks), liquidity

risks and cash flow risks (foreign exchange and interest

rate risk). Much of the credit risk is insured with a

credit insurer. Foreign exchange positions are largely

covered by forward exchange transactions. Interest-

rate derivatives are used to hedge interest rate risks.

Hedging instruments at cost
Financial instruments that serve to hedge risks and

whose underlying securities are not publicly listed, or

for which no hedge accounting is applied, are stated at

cost or market value, whichever is the lowest.

The company applies hedge accounting based on

individual documentation for financial instruments

having a specific individual hedge relationship.

Generic documentation is applied to financial

instruments having a non-specific hedge relationship.

The company documents the way in which hedge

relationships match the objectives of risk

management, hedging strategy and expectations on

the effectiveness of the hedge.

General information on cost price hedge
accounting
The effective part of financial derivatives that have

been allocated to cost hedge accounting is valued at

cost. The ineffective part is recognised in the income

statement only where there has been a (cumulative)

loss.

Cost price hedge accounting for hedging the
interest rate risk
Cost price hedge accounting is used for interest rate

derivatives, which are valued at cost price throughout

their duration. Changes in fair value are not

recognised in the income statement as long as there is

an effective hedge.

8 Accounting policies for foreign
currency translation

Receivables, liabilities and commitments in foreign

currencies are translated at the exchange rates

prevailing at the balance sheet date. The exchange

differences resulting from translation at the balance

sheet date are taken to the balance sheet and income

statement, taking any possible hedge transactions

into account.

Transactions in foreign currencies during the period

under review are accounted for at the exchange rate

prevailing at the transaction date. The exchange

differences resulting from translation at the balance

sheet date are taken to the income statement.

Foreign group companies and associates qualify as

autonomous foreign entities. The financial statements

of the foreign entities are translated at the exchange

rate at the balance sheet date for items in the balance

sheet and at the average rate for items in the income

statement. Translation gains and losses are taken

directly to group equity.

9 Accounting policies for assets and
liabilities

Intangible fixed assets
Since 1999, goodwill arising on the purchase of shares

and the acquisition of business activities has been

capitalised. Assets, provisions and liabilities at the

date of acquisition are stated at fair value. The

goodwill created is carried at the amount of the costs

incurred, less accumulated amortisation and, if

applicable, impairment. Amortisation is based on the

expected useful life (20 years). An impairment analysis

is carried out in the event of any indications that could

lead to possible impairment of the capitalised

goodwill.

With the exception of goodwill, intangible fixed assets,

such as fees for licences, concessions and permits, but

also prepayments, are capitalised as they arise.

Amortisation is based on the expected useful life (20

years). An impairment analysis is carried out in the

event of any indications that could lead to possible

readjustment of the valuation.
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Tangible fixed assets
Buildings and land
Buildings and land are stated at historical cost with

effect from 2016. For further details, please see point

6, Change in accounting policy.

Depreciation for buildings is based on the expected

useful life of the building. Depreciation is not applied

to land.

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are carried at the cost of

acquisition or production, less accumulated

depreciation and, if applicable, impairment. The

depreciation is based on the expected useful life and

calculated using a fixed percentage of the acquisition

price, with due regard for any residual value. Assets are

depreciated from the date they are taken into use. EU

grants (CMO) received are deducted from this value.

Financial fixed assets
Associates, where significant influence is exercised on

commercial and financial policy, are carried at net

asset value, but no lower than nil. The net asset value

is determined in accordance with the company's

accounting policies.

Associates with a negative net asset value are valued

at nil. Where the company has either wholly or

partially guaranteed debts payable by the relevant

associate, a provision has been formed, which is

primarily charged to receivables from this associate

and the remainder to the provisions. The amount of

the provision equals the remaining share in the losses

incurred by the associate or of the expected payments

to be made by the company on behalf of these

associates.

Amounts receivable from, and loans to associates and

other debtors are carried at amortised cost, which

equals their face value, net of any allowances

considered necessary.

Inventories
Inventory is carried at the lower of cost or net

realisable value, less any provisions for obsolescence.

The net realisable value of the inventory is based on

the fair market value. The cost price method applied to

the inventory is the average purchase price method.

Inventories of reusable packaging are carried at the

refundable amount, unless held on consignment.

Receivables
Receivables are carried at amortised cost, less any

provisions for doubtful debts considered necessary.

These provisions are determined based on an

individual assessment of the receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at face value

and are at the company's free disposal.

Product funds
Product funds consist of levies raised on growers. They

are carried at face value and may only be used to

defray the cost of commercial activities such as

promotions, product research and care systems, after

consultation with growers' representatives.

Provisions
Pension provisions
Pension provisions are valued in accordance with

Dutch Guidelines for Annual Reporting, Guideline

271.3 'Employee Benefits - Pensions'.

The company and its subsidiaries have several pension

plans. No provision is formed for the industry-wide

pension fund of Stichting Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor

de Agrarische en Voedselvoorzieningshandel, for

Pensioenfonds Vervoer or for the Defined Contribution

Plan. The pension plan managed by Stichting

Bedrijfspensioenfonds voor de Agrarische en

Voedselvoorzieningshandel and Pensioenfonds

Vervoer is a defined contribution plan.

Pension plans in the Netherlands
Pension commitments arising from the Dutch pension

plans are valued according to the 'liability towards the

pension administrator' principle. This approach

recognises the contributions payable to the pension

administrator as an expense in the income statement

in the relevant period.

The administration agreement specifies circumstances

in which other liabilities may arise in addition to the

payment of the annual contributions payable to the

pension administrator. These additional liabilities,

including liabilities arising from recovery plans of the

pension administrator, will lead to charges for the

group and will be recognised in the balance sheet as a

provision.

The pension provision included in the balance sheet

only covers the unconditional liabilities regarding

entitlements accrued as at the balance sheet date

arising from expected future salary increases and

payable by the company.
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The valuation of this liability is the best estimate of the

amounts needed to settle the liability on the balance

sheet date. If the effect of the time value of money is

material, the liability will be valued at its present value.

Discounting will be applied based on interest rates

applicable to premium corporate bonds.

Increases of and releases from the liabilities are

charged to the income statement.

Pension plans outside the Netherlands
Pension plans in countries outside the Netherlands

that are comparable to the way in which the pension

system in the Netherlands is organised and operates

are treated in the same way as pension plans in the

Netherlands.

For pension plans outside the Netherlands that are not

comparable to the way the pension system in the

Netherlands is organised, liabilities arising under these

international pension plans are valued on the basis of

a generally accepted actuarial valuation method in the

Netherlands which is in line with the ‘commitment to

the employee’ principle. This means that the liability is

valued based on the best estimate of the amounts

needed to settle the liabilities in question on the

balance sheet date.

Other long-term employee compensation
Other long-term employee compensation comprises

emoluments that form part of the remuneration

package, such as work anniversary bonuses,

temporary leave, etc. with a long-term character.

Entitlement to these is earned. The liability is valued

based on the best estimate of the amounts needed to

settle the liabilities in question on the balance sheet

date.

Deferred tax liabilities
A provision is formed for future tax liabilities resulting

from timing differences between the valuation of

assets and liabilities for financial reporting and for tax

purposes.

This provision is reduced by the tax amounts that may

be carried forward for future set-off, insofar as it is

likely that future taxable profits will be available for

set-off.

The provision is carried at its non-discounted value on

the basis of the prevailing tax rate, with the exception

of land held for strategic purposes, to which a rate of

20% applies.

Restructuring provision
This provision relates to costs associated with

restructuring of activities and is formed where the

group has a legal or constructive obligation. A

provision is also recognised for reorganisations for

which there is a formalised plan on the balance sheet

date, but for which only after the balance sheet date

either the justified expectation was raised that the

reorganisation was to be carried out or

implementation of the restructuring plan has begun.

Other provisions
Except where stated otherwise, any other provisions

are valued at the nominal value of the expenditure

expected to be necessary to settle the related

liabilities.

Long-term liabilities
These are carried at their non-discounted value.

10 Accounting policies for
determining the result

Net revenue
Net revenue represents the income from the supply of

goods and services to third parties, net of VAT and

discounts. Income arising from the sale of goods is

recognised at the time that all key rights to economic

benefits and all key risks have transferred to the buyer.

The cost price of these goods is attributed to the same

period. Revenues derived from third parties are

recognised at the time of performance of the service.

Net revenue also includes the commission on product

sales, with a fixed percentage counted as income for

The Greenery. Operating subsidies (CMO) are

recognised in the income statement in the year in

which the subsidised expenditure was incurred.

Costs
Costs are determined in accordance with the above

accounting policies and allocated to the reporting year

to which they relate.

Tax
Corporate income tax is computed on the net profit or

loss at the prevailing tax rate for the year, taking

account of permanent differences for computing the

result for financial reporting and tax purposes.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent

that they are likely to be realised.

Share in result of associates
The results of associates in which the company exerts

significant significant influence over commercial and
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financial policy are recognised in proportion to its

share in the result of these associates. The result is

determined on the basis of the prevailing accounting

principles at the company for determining the net

result.

11 Basis of preparation of the
consolidated cash flow statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared using the

indirect method. In general, the cash flow statement

reflects the movements in the consolidated balance

sheet, with separate presentation under cash flow

from investing activities in the case of the acquisition

or sale of consolidated associates, of the acquired net

asset value, less cash and cash equivalents, and

increased by any goodwill paid. Exchange rate

movements are eliminated from balance sheet

movements, as they do not represent cash flows. Partly

for the above two reasons, the movements in the cash

flow statement cannot always be directly derived from

the movements in the related balance sheet items.

Cash flows in foreign currency are translated at an

average exchange rate. Currency exchange differences

on cash are recognised separately in the cash flow

statement. Profits tax and interest are stated under

cash flow from operating activities. Dividends received

are stated under cash flow from investing activities.

12 Proposed profit appropriation
It is proposed to the General Meeting to add the profit

of EUR 8,996,000 recorded in 2016 to the equity. This

proposal has not yet been incorporated into the

financial statements.

13 Events after the balance sheet date
In its letter of 13 February 2017, the Netherlands

Enterprise Agency (RVO) informed the company that

the warning notice relating to the CMO recognition

criteria, which took effect on 14 October 2016, had

been withdrawn given that sufficient corrective

measures had been taken.
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

(in thousands of euros)

14 Intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Goodwill 7,034 8,625

Other intangible fixed assets 8,704 9,627

Net book value as at 31 December 15,738 18,252
   

Goodwill

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net book value as at 1 January 8,625 10,324
Depreciation (1,658) (1,766)

Other movements 67 67

Net book value as at 31 December 7,034 8,625

Accumulated cost 34,722 34,722

Accumulated depreciation and impairments (27,688) (26,097)

Net book value as at 31 December 7,034 8,625
   

Other movements include the release of EU grants received.

Other intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net book value as at 1 January 9,627 13,302
Investments 1,131 689

Depreciation (2,140) (1,792)

Impairments (416) (2,572)

Other movements 502 -

Net book value as at 31 December 8,704 9,627

Accumulated cost 19,757 17,675

Accumulated depreciation and impairments (11,053) (8,048)

Net book value as at 31 December 8,704 9,627
   

Mainly pear-growing rights and associated licensing rights are capitalised under other intangible fixed assets. In

January 2012, the company acquired the shares of New Sensations B.V. and Goeie Peer B.V., a company that holds

the cultivation rights to the Rode Doyenne Van Doorn pear variety, as well as the licensing rights for the Uta pear

variety. The acquisition included a contingent consideration arrangement (an income-dependent earn-out),

hence the inclusion of a contingent debt within other provisions. In addition, the amount recognised under

'Investments' concerns the costs of the acquisition, development and implementation of SAP 6.0 at the Import

Organisation plus a new administrative system at Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit BV.
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The impairment in 2016, as in 2015, concerns the pear-growing companies. It is based on the future sales of

trees, and gross and net harvest figures. If the future net harvest figures are 10% lower than estimated, this will

have a negative effect on the valuation of the pear-growing companies of EUR 0.4 million after tax.

15 Tangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros

Buildings and

land

Machinery

and

equipment Vehicles

Other

equipment

Tangible fixed

assets in

progress

Decommissioned

assets Total

Net book value as at
1 January 2016 126,151 13,527 3,782 1,966 1,435 163 147,024
Deconsolidation (1,616) (3) - - - - (1,619)

Investments 9,447 3,610 2,925 79 3,099 - 19,160

Disposals (8,561) (1,628) (188) (230) - - (10,607)

Depreciation (4,249) (4,211) (1,237) (624) - - (10,321)

Impairments (880) - - - - - (880)

Transfers (5,649) 294 38 210 (906) 6,013 -

Other movements 1,519 964 286 102 (502) - 2,369

Net book value as at
31 December 2016 116,162 12,553 5,606 1,503 3,126 6,176 145,126
        

In 2016, the company finalised a number of transactions concerning the sale of land and buildings in

Barendrecht. The removal of these items from the books is recognised under Disposals. Part of the Retail DC will

be delivered in 2017. Because the purchase price has already been paid, a mortgage of EUR 6.0 million has been

granted for the remaining section that is to be delivered.

The amount stated under impairments relates to PTLA (EUR 0.9 million). This impairment of PTLA is based on the

harvest forecast for the mango orchards and a price level based on an exchange rate of BRL 3.38/EUR. If the

forecast harvest figures lead to 10% less volume than projected, this will have a negative effect on the valuation

of PTLA of EUR 0.7 million. In addition, a decline in prices arising from a further decrease in the exchange rate of

BRL 0.30/EUR will have a negative effect of approximately EUR 1.5 million.

The investments of EUR 19.2 million (2015: EUR 5.3 million) are stated net of EU grants of EUR 6.4 million (2015:

EUR 1.2 million). Of the investments, EUR 1.4 million was effected through a financial lease commitment

recognised under Loans. The interest included in the lease instalments is taken to the result over the course of the

lease.

The book value as at 31 December 2016 includes EUR 11.4 million relating to investments at the cultivation

companies of members of the Cooperative, EUR 5.3 million of which was invested in 2016. The release of EU

grants received is recognised as other movements.

In the past year, The Greenery and Greenery Vastgoed cancelled their membership of Coöperatie Wervershoof OG

I UA with effect from the end of the year. This has resulted in a deconsolidation of EUR 1.6 million negative.
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Cost, accumulated revaluation, accumulated depreciation and net book values as at 31 December 2016 were as

follows:

in thousands of euros

Buildings and

land

Machinery

and

equipment Vehicles

Other

equipment

Tangible fixed

assets in

progress

Decommissioned

assets Total

Cost 80,633 33,830 18,113 18,592 3,126 6,176 160,470

Accumulated revaluation 71,242 - - - - - 71,242

Accumulated depreciation (35,713) (21,277) (12,507) (17,089) - - (86,586)

Net book value as at
31 December 2016 116,162 12,553 5,606 1,503 3,126 6,176 145,126
        

The accumulated unrealised revaluation amounted to EUR 71 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015: EUR 74

million). A provision for deferred tax on this amount has been formed. Realisation of the revaluation is recognised

in shareholders' equity.

16 Financial fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Associates 42,532 37,544

Other long-term receivables 2,852 4,117

Amounts receivable from shareholders 7,501 7,501

Total 52,885 49,162
   

Associates

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net asset value at 1 January 37,544 31,423
Share in result 11,000 11,026

Dividends received (6,011) (4,910)

Other movements (1) 5

Net asset value at 31 December 42,532 37,544
   

Other long-term receivables

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net book value as at 1 January 4,117 1,899
Impairments (430) -

Loans granted 193 2,743

Release of provision 73 85

Loan redemption (478) (523)

Loan write-off - (87)

Transfers (623) -

Net book value as at 31 December 2,852 4,117
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In connection with the sale of real estate in Bleiswijk, Houweling Klappolder B.V. was granted suspension of

payment in April 2015 regarding a part of the purchase price, which was converted into a loan of EUR 2.5 million,

subject to an interest rate of 3.5% and a term of 10 years and 2.5 months.

In 2013, a loan was granted to the minority holding Inova Fruit B.V., and a provision of EUR 1.0 million was formed

for the possibility of impairment. In 2016, a repayment of EUR 37,000 was made on this subordinated loan. A

review of the provision resulted in a release of EUR 73,000.

The impairment of EUR 0.4 million concerns a receivable from one of the pear-growing companies.

Receivable from shareholder
The Cooperative holds the entire share capital of the company. The Cooperative has issued depositary receipts for

B shares to its members, all of which were repurchased in 2016.

To finance the repurchase of depositary receipts, a company belonging to the group granted a loan of EUR 7.5

million (2015: EUR 7.5 million) with a profit-related interest rate of 8%. The loan was issued for an indefinite

period from 1 January 2009.

17 Inventories

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Packaging 5,553 6,173

Goods for sale 6,887 5,722

Total 12,440 11,895
   

The inventories item includes a provision for obsolescence of EUR 1.3 million (2015: EUR 1.2 million). This relates

mainly to unsaleable packaging.

18 Receivables and accruals

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Trade receivables 55,533 66,595

Accounts receivable from shareholders 14,499 4,819

Other receivables 3,010 4,592

Prepayments and accrued income 11,699 7,072

Total 84,741 83,078
   

Trade receivables include a provision for impairment of EUR 0.9 million (2015: EUR 2.5 million).

The increase in the accounts receivable from shareholders mainly concerns the EU grant, caused by the timing of

payment, on the one hand, and an increase in the invoice amount (EUR 4.0 million), on the other. A payment of

EUR 5.1 million was received in February 2017. The interest on accounts receivable from shareholders is set at 0%.
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19 Group equity
The movements in group equity are as follows:

in thousands of euros

Shareholders'

equity

Non-controlling

interest Group equity

Book value as at 1 January 2016 86,960 (140) 86,820
Revaluation of property on sale (1,715) - (1,715)

Movement in UK pension provision (222) - (222)

Result for the year 8,996 15 9,011

Currency exchange differences 1,971 (4) 1,967

Other movements (813) - (813)

Comprehensive income for 2016 8,217 11 8,228

Book value as at 31 December 2016 95,177 (129) 95,048
    

Non-controlling interest relates to the consolidated subsidiary Dalice Qingdao Trading Company Ltd., 30% of the

shares of which are held by a company outside the group.

Please see note 39, 'Shareholders' equity', to the company balance sheet for a breakdown of shareholders' equity..

20 Product funds

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net book value as at 1 January 5,797 5,967
Withdrawals (1,622) (1,686)

Additions 1,332 1,486

Interest 29 30

Net book value as at 31 December 5,536 5,797
   

The product funds are short-term and subordinated.

The rate of interest is based on the one-month EURIBOR rate plus a mark-up of 0.5%.

21 Provisions
The provisions are as follows:

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Pension provision 10,938 8,928

Deferred tax liabilities 15,903 17,527

Other provisions 6,035 14,180

Net book value as at 31 December 32,876 40,635
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The breakdown of provisions into short-term (less than one year), long-term (more than one year) and more than

five years is as follows:

in thousands of euros < 1 year

1 year > < 5

years < 5 years

Total

2016

Pension provision 269 659 10,010 10,938

Deferred tax liabilities 629 1,108 14,166 15,903

Other provisions 5,246 593 196 6,035

Total liabilities 6,144 2,360 24,372 32,876
     

Movements in provisions:

in thousands of euros

Pension

provision

Deferred tax

liabilities

Other

provisions Total

Book value as at 1 January 2016 8,928 17,527 14,180 40,635
Withdrawals (19) - (5,877) (5,896)

Additions recognised in the result 2,661 - 1,635 4,296

Reversal recognised in the result (504) - (3,235) (3,739)

Other movements (128) (1,624) (668) (2,420)

Book value as at 31 December 2016 10,938 15,903 6,035 32,876
     

Pension provision
The group contributes to a number of defined benefit plans in the Netherlands and the UK. The defined benefit

pension is based largely on average salary and partly on final salary.

Dutch pension provision
The Dutch pension plans and the international pension plans (where they are comparable to how the Dutch

pension system is organised and operates) are stated according to the ‘liability towards the pension

administrator’ principle. Most of the other countries have defined contribution plans.

Foreign pension provision
Regarding the UK pension fund, the calculations are based on actuarial assumptions with future liabilities

discounted at a rate of 2.7% and with due regard for an inflation rate of 3.5%. In addition, the calculations

incorporate an expected rate of return on assets of 2.7%, the S2NXA CMI mortality table for 2015 and an

expected future increase in deferred pensions of 3.5%.

Given the present value of the assets in the UK pension fund versus the present value of the liability, the pension

fund currently shows a net deficit of EUR 5.7 million, for which a provision has been formed in the balance sheet.

This provision concerns a commitment of Greenery UK Ltd. The increase in liabilities is due to changes in the

assumptions applied, i.e. a 1.1% fall in the discount rate and a 0.2% increase in the inflation rate. A recovery plan

provides for monthly contributions to the pension to strengthen its position. The pension costs in 2017 are

estimated to amount to EUR 0.3 million and solely comprise allocations.

Provision for deferred tax liabilities
The provision for deferred tax liabilities relates chiefly to the revaluation of property, plant and equipment and

the pension provision. The decrease in the company's deferred tax position relates mainly to the sale of land and

buildings.

Other provisions
The other provisions are as follows:
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in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Restructuring provision 405 4,266

Provision for legal claims 302 3,727

Provision for conditional earn-out obligation 971 1,386

Other provisions 4,357 4,801

Book value as at 31 December 6,035 14,180
   

The other provisions mainly comprise a EUR 3.2 million provision for claims relating to EU grants and a EUR 0.8

million provision for a loss-making lease for a building.

22 Long-term liabilities

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Mandatory members' loans 39,829 44,354

Financial lease 2,032 976

Other loans 9,791 6,189

Total 51,652 51,519
   

Mandatory and voluntary members' loans
Mandatory members’ loans are based on the liquidity levy, which is calculated in proportion to the value of the

goods supplied. At the end of the year, the levy is converted into a mandatory members' loan with a term of eight

years and one day, with a starting date of 31 December and an expiry date of 1 January. The net amount of the

long-term members' loans is EUR 39.8 million (2015: EUR 44.4 million). The interest on these members' loans is

added to the principal amount unless a request for payment of the interest is received by 31 March. The rate of

interest on the mandatory loans is determined annually. In 2016, the rates on the various loans ranged from

2.10% to 4.70%.

There were also voluntary members' loans totalling EUR 7.7 million as at 31 December 2016 (2015: (EUR 7.1

million) bearing interest rates from 2.10% to 3.50%. Voluntary members' loans that are due every year between

1 January and 31 March are recognised as current liabilities.

Mandatory members' loans totalling EUR 8.7 million expire on 1 January 2017. Interest on these loans was paid at

a rate of between 4.25% and 5.65% in 2016. Mandatory members' loans that mature within one year are

recognised as current liabilities, including the accrued interest. The portion of these members' loans due after five

years is EUR 11.9 million (2015: EUR 18.2 million). The interest accrued and payable on the mandatory and

voluntary members' loans is classified as subordinated capital as at 31 December of the financial year. The

members' loans are subordinated to the bank loans.

Financial leases
In 2016, the company entered into financial lease commitments for vehicles, which are recognised under tangible

fixed assets. The leases have a term of five years and the interest rate included in the lease ranges from 2.79% to

3.75%.

Other loans
These are loans granted mostly by members of the Cooperative to finance capital expenditure by the company on

their behalf. In 2016 the interest on these loans amounted to 0.06% (2015: 0.323%), depending on the effective

date and term. The debt due and payable after five years is EUR 1.7 million (2015: EUR 0.6 million).
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Information on financial instruments
At 31 December 2016 the Company had interest-rate derivatives outstanding for a principal amount of EUR 15

million. Of these interest-rate derivatives EUR 15 million have an expiry date of 1 January 2017. The market-to-

market value is EUR 27,000 negative as at 31 December 2016.

Forward currency contracts have been concluded to hedge currency risks arising on debtor positions in foreign

currencies.

The total contract value of the outstanding forward currency and option contracts as at 31 December 2016

amounted to approximately EUR 7.1 million (2015: EUR 4.8 million); they mature within one year.

The estimated fair value of the forward currency contracts at the balance sheet date is approximately EUR

193,000 lower than the book value. All contracts mature within one year.

23 Current liabilities

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Credit institutions - 485

Financial lease 312 119

Trade payables 62,949 60,842

Grower payables 11,178 9,517

Mandatory members' loans 8,670 9,240

Voluntary members' loans 7,690 7,095

Other loans < 1 year 6,013 -

Taxes and social security contributions 1,566 2,795

Pension contributions 1,691 2,796

Other liabilities 28,851 26,204

Accruals and deferred income 12,677 18,729

Total 141,597 137,822
   

Collateral
In mid-December the company concluded a new financing agreement with Deutsche Bank, Rabobank and DLL.

The arrangement consists of a EUR 40 million accounts receivable financing facility, a EUR 20 million credit

facility and a EUR 10 million guarantee facility. The committed credit agreement has a term of three years, which

can be extended twice for a period of one year. Along with an availability commission, the fee comprises a mark-

up at the EURIBOR rate when the facility is used. The company will also start using the cash management systems

of Deutsche Bank and Rabobank. The new agreement will be implemented in the first quarter of 2017 and the

ABN AMRO and ING (ComFin) cash management systems will be gradually phased out.

As the new financing agreement had not yet taken effect on the balance sheet date, the amounts stated under

credit institutions concern the accounts receivable financing facility of EUR 75 million maximum. These

arrangements have a variable interest based on the one-month EURIBOR rate plus a 3.0% mark-up at ING

(ComFin).

The collateral that had been provided to ABN AMRO and ING (ComFin) was cancelled concurrently with the

implementation of the new financing agreement in early 2017. All real estate in Bleiswijk was pledged at the

beginning of 2017 as mortgage collateral for the new financing agreement. Furthermore, the bank accounts,

accounts receivable and credit insurance were pledged as collateral. At year-end 2016, however, all assets were

pledged as security for debts owed to ABN AMRO and ING (ComFin).
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24 Off-balance sheet commitments

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Guarantees and securities 4,602 4,726

Capital expenditure commitments 716 33

Lease and rental commitments 77,641 21,326

Other commitments 5,302 5,502

Total 88,261 31,587
   

The breakdown of off-balance sheet commitments into short-term (less than one year), long-term (more than

one year) and more than five years is as follows:

in thousands of euros < 1 year

1 year > < 5

years < 5 years

Total

2016

Guarantees and securities - - 4,602 4,602

Capital expenditure commitments 716 - - 716

Lease and rental commitments 7,412 27,306 42,923 77,641

Other commitments 5,222 80 - 5,302

Total 13,350 27,386 47,525 88,261
     

Guarantees and securities consist primarily of guarantees for EU grants.

The amount included in the capital expenditure commitments comprises EUR 0.6 million in ICT-related

investments and EUR 0.2 million in moveable property.

Lease and rental commitments can be broken down as follows:

• Payable in 2017: EUR 7.4 million

• Payable from 2018 onwards: EUR 70.2 million

Of the amount of lease and rental commitments, EUR 70.4 million concerns real estate rentals (2015: EUR 15.3

million) and EUR 7.2 million concerns rolling stock (2015: EUR 6.0 million). The rise in rental commitments relates

to the lease-back of real estate sold in 2015 and the fact that from 2016 the total contractual commitment is

shown, rather than the commitment for the next five years.

The amount for other commitments primarily concerns ICT-related contractual commitments.
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25 Related-party transactions
In 2016, the company entered into transactions with its associates Europool System B.V. and Inova Fruit B.V. These

transactions were conducted at arm's length.

In 2013, a subordinated finance facility was provided to Inova Fruit B.V., an associate, at a fair market interest rate.

In 2016, EUR 37,000 was repaid.

In accordance with Dutch accounting guideline RJ 330, the members of the company's Supervisory Board qualify

as related parties. Please see note 45 to the company financial statements for details of the remuneration of

these directors.
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Notes to the consolidated
income statement

26 Net revenue

Geographic spread

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Geographic spread
The Netherlands 654,206 674,649

Germany 140,648 162,961

United Kingdom 49,498 94,407

Rest of Europe 158,332 117,253

Rest of the world 26,993 57,716

Total 1,029,677 1,106,986
   

Segmentation by category

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Segmentation by category
Fruit and vegetables 955,018 1,030,505

Services and other income 74,659 76,481

Total 1,029,677 1,106,986
   

Services and other income
This item includes income from logistical services, transport, rental and other operating income that includes an

amount of EUR 3.1 million (2015: EUR 3.5 million) in EU grants and a result on the sale of real estate of EUR 0.1

million.

27 Depreciation

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Intangible fixed assets (3,798) (3,558)

Tangible fixed assets (10,321) (11,704)

Total (14,119) (15,262)
   

Depreciation of intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Goodwill (1,658) (1,766)

Other intangible fixed assets (2,140) (1,792)

Total (3,798) (3,558)
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Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Buildings and land (4,249) (5,594)

Machinery and equipment (4,211) (4,040)

Vehicles (1,237) (1,305)

Other tangible fixed assets (624) (765)

Total (10,321) (11,704)
   

28 Impairments of tangible and intangible fixed assets

Impairments in 2016:

in thousands of euros

Intangible fixed

assets

Tangible fixed

assets Total

Plant variety and licence rights on pears (416) - (416)

PTLA - (880) (880)

Total (416) (880) (1,296)
    

Impairments in 2015:

in thousands of euros

Intangible fixed

assets

Tangible fixed

assets Total

Plant variety and licence rights on pears (2,572) - (2,572)

North Bank Growers - (2,310) (2,310)

Total (2,572) (2,310) (4,882)
    

29 Other operating expenses

Fees for the activities of the external auditor
Fees for the activities of the external auditor and the audit firm charged against the result for the financial year

include an amount under other operating expenses of EUR 0.7 million (2015: EUR 0.8 million). This amount is

broken down as follows:

in thousands of euros Total 2016 Total 2015

Audit of the financial statements by Deloitte Accountants B.V. 372 442

Audit of the financial statements by Deloitte Accountants B.V. additional costs

2015 57 -

Audit of the financial statements by other Deloitte networks 62 126

Subtotal for audit of the financial statements 491 568

Other audit engagements by Deloitte Accountants B.V. 204 196

Other non-audit engagements by Deloitte Accountants B.V. 17 46

Total 712 810
   

792016 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.



30 Financial income and expenses
Financial income and expenses mainly relate to interest income and expenses. The balance of interest paid to and

interest received from related parties is EUR 25,000 (2015: EUR 32,000).

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Financial income 144 596

Financial expenses (4,150) (8,530)

Total (4,006) (7,934)
   

31 Tax
Taxes on income:

in thousands of euros Gross profit

Corporate tax

in EUR in %

Result on ordinary activities before tax (1,439) (359) 25.0%

Permanent differences 1,248 312 25.0%

(191) (47)

Non-capitalised losses of foreign group companies 570

Adjustments to tax returns in previous years 19

Miscellaneous 8

Taxes on income as shown in the income statement 550
    

The permanent differences mostly concern non-deductible amortisation of goodwill.

The company and most of its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the Netherlands constitute a tax group.

32 Employees

number of FTEs employed at year-end 2016 2015

Board/MT/offices 322 359

Logistics services 644 832

Transportation and other 146 136

Total 1,113 1,327
   

The average number of FTEs with permanent employment contracts during 2016 was 1,165 (2015: 1,367).

The average number of temporary staff in FTEs was 623 (2015: 602).
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Company financial statements

Company balance sheet as at 31 December
(before profit appropriation)

in thousands of euros Note 2016 2015

Assets

Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 34 8,321 9,199

Tangible fixed assets 35 22,575 9,418

Financial fixed assets 36 147,515 200,807

178,411 219,424

Current assets
Inventories 37 11,050 8,030

Receivables and accruals 38 104,068 94,847

Cash and cash equivalents 8,035 10,000

123,153 112,877

Total assets 301,564 332,301

Liabilities

Group equity 39

Share capital 61,262 61,262

Share premium reserve 834 834

Revaluation reserve 54,752 56,716

Other legal reserves 39,241 32,967

General reserve (69,908) (68,930)

Result for the financial year 8,996 4,111

95,177 86,960
Provisions and liabilities
Product funds 5,536 5,797

Provisions 40 26,108 34,452

Long-term liabilities 41 49,037 50,481

Current liabilities and accruals 42 125,706 154,611

206,387 245,341

Total liabilities 301,564 332,301
    

Company income statement

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net income from subsidiaries and associates after tax 24,169 19,750

Other net income after tax (15,173) (15,639)

Company net income 8,996 4,111
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Notes to the company financial statements

33 General
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch

Civil Code.

The accounting policies applied in the company financial statements are the same as those applied in the

consolidated financial statements. Please see the notes to the consolidated financial statements for these

accounting policies.

Participating interests in group companies where significant influence is exercised on commercial and financial

policy are carried at net asset value, but no lower than nil. The net asset value is determined in accordance with

the company's accounting policies.

The income from associates represents the company's share in the profit or loss for the financial year of the

company concerned from the time it became part of the group.

The income statement has been drawn up in accordance with the provisions of Section 402 of Book 2 of the

Dutch Civil Code.

34 Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net book value as at 1 January 3,557 3,933
Disposal of associate

Adjustment of capitalised goodwill 66 67

Depreciation and impairments (443) (443)

Net book value as at 31 December 3,180 3,557

Accumulated cost 8,200 8,200

Accumulated depreciation and impairments (5,020) (4,643)

Net book value as at 31 December 3,180 3,557
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Other intangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Net book value as at 1 January 5,643 4,364
Investments 730 296

Depreciation (1,734) (1,384)

Other movements 502 -

Net book value as at 31 December 5,141 3,276

Accumulated cost 10,813 9,581

Accumulated depreciation and impairments (5,672) (3,939)

Net book value as at 31 December 5,141 5,642
   

35 Tangible fixed assets

in thousands of euros

Buildings and

land

Machinery

and

equipment Vehicles

Other tangible

fixed assets

Tangible fixed

assets in

progress Total

Net book value as at 1 January
2016 711 6,679 329 969 730 9,418
Investments 9,347 3,299 120 54 2,750 15,570

Disposals (7) (254) - 5 - (256)

Transfers - 294 - - (294) -

Depreciation (315) (2,504) (321) (390) - (3,530)

Other movements 596 901 277 101 (502) 1,373

Net book value as at
31 December 2016 10,332 8,415 405 739 2,684 22,575
       

Cost, accumulated revaluation, accumulated depreciation and net book values as at 31 December 2016 were as

follows:

in thousands of euros

Buildings and

land

Machinery

and

equipment Vehicles

Other tangible

fixed assets

Tangible fixed

assets in

progress Total

Cost (7,101) 17,048 500 10,760 2,684 23,891

Accumulated depreciation 17,433 (8,633) (95) (10,021) - (1,316)

Net book value as at
31 December 2016 10,332 8,415 405 739 2,684 22,575
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36 Financial fixed assets

in thousands of euros Associates

Receivables from

group

companies

Minority

interests

Other

receivables Total

Net book value as at 1 January 2016 63,433 99,596 37,598 180 200,807
New loans - - 73 - 73

Redemption - (55,032) (37) (122) (55,191)

Result of subsidiaries and associates 13,169 - 11,000 - 24,169

Dividends (15,207) - (6,011) - (21,218)

Other movements (1,125) - - - (1,125)

Net book value as at 31 December 2016 60,270 44,564 42,623 58 147,515
      

Associates
The amount stated under other movements mainly concerns the currency translation differences reserve for

associates in connection with PTLA.

Receivables from group companies
The amount recognised under redemptions relates mainly to the sale of real estate by Greenery Vastgoed B.V.

Minority interests
Over the course of 2016, an amount of EUR 6.0 million in dividend was received from EPS through

Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingsbedrijven B.V.

37 Inventories

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Packaging 5,307 5,299

Goods for sale 5,743 2,731

Total 11,050 8,030
   

The inventories item includes a provision for obsolescence of EUR 1.3 million (2015: EUR 1.2 million). This relates

mainly to unsaleable packaging.

38 Receivables and accruals

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Trade receivables 42,610 36,472

Amounts receivable from group companies 40,780 50,026

Amounts receivable from shareholders 14,499 4,820

Other receivables, prepayments and accrued income 6,179 3,529

Total 104,068 94,847
   

Trade receivables include a provision for impairment of EUR 0.2 million (2015: EUR 0.3 million).
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The interest on amounts receivable from group companies is based on one-month EURIBOR plus a mark-up. The

interest on amounts receivable from shareholders is set at 0%.

39 Group equity

in thousands of euros

Share

capital

Share

premium

reserve

Revaluation

reserve

Other legal

reserves

General

reserve Result Total

Net value as at 01 January 2016 61,262 834 56,716 32,967 (68,930) 4,111 86,960
Revaluation of property on sale - - (1,715) - - - (1,715)

Movement in UK pension provision - - - - (222) - (222)

Revaluation realised with regard to

disposals and depreciation - - (249) - 249 - -

Movements in legal reserves for

associates - - - (6,011) 6,011 - -

Result appropriation of previous

financial year - - - 11,000 (11,000) - -

Addition to the reserve of

associates - - - - 4,111 (4,111) -

Result for the year - - - - - 8,996 8,996

Other movements - - - (686) (127) - (813)

Currency exchange differences - - - 1,971 - - 1,971

Net value as at 31 December 2016 61,262 834 54,752 39,241 (69,908) 8,996 95,177
        

The revaluation reserve is for changes in the value of tangible fixed assets of Greenery Vastgoed B.V. that were

carried at present value. Realisation of the revaluation reserve is transferred to group equity.

The other movements relate to one-off adjustments concerning the transition to a new consolidation tool.

Paid-up and called-up capital
The share capital comprises 281,000 Class A shares and 259,000 Class B cumulative preference shares. Shares in

both classes have a nominal value of EUR 113.45 each.

Share premium reserve
The share premium reserve arose in 1996 upon the contribution in kind against the issuance of Class A shares.

Other legal reserves
In addition to the reserve for associates, the other reserves required by law include the reserve for currency

exchange differences. The movements in these reserves were as follows:

in thousands of euros

Reserve for

associates

Currency

translation

reserve

Other legal

reserves

Net book value as at 1 January 37,545 (4,578) 32,967
Movements of legal reserve for associates (6,011) - (6,011)

Grants to the reserve of associates 11,000 - 11,000

Other movements (6) (680) (686)

Currency exchange differences - 1,971 1,971

Net book value as at 31 December 42,528 (3,287) 39,241
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40 Provisions
The provisions are as follows:

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Pension provision 5,054 5,019

Deferred tax liabilities 17,047 18,279

Other provisions 4,007 11,154

Net book value as at 31 December 26,108 34,452
   

Movements in pensions, deferred tax liabilities and other provisions were as follows:

in thousands of euros

Pension

provision

Deferred tax

liabilities

Other

provisions Total

Net value as at 01 January 2016 5,019 18,279 11,154 34,452
Withdrawals (19) - (4,170) (4,189)

Additions recognised in the result 557 - 467 1,024

Reversal recognised in the result (504) - (2,820) (3,324)

Other movements 1 (1,232) (624) (1,855)

Book value as at 31 December 2016 5,054 17,047 4,007 26,108
     

For a further explanation, please see the notes to the consolidated balance sheet.

41 Long-term liabilities
To finance the repurchase of depositary receipts, a company belonging to the group of The Greenery B.V. supplied

a loan of EUR 7.5 million (2015: EUR 7.5 million) at an interest rate of 8%. The loan was issued for an indefinite

period from 1 January 2009.

42 Current liabilities

in thousands of euros 2016 2015

Credit institutions 6,750 -

Trade payables 50,913 29,046

Grower payables 11,178 9,517

Group companies 14,644 72,028

Mandatory members' loans 8,670 9,240

Voluntary members' loans 7,690 7,095

Taxes and social security contributions (4,477) 1,285

Pension contributions 1,629 2,722

Other liabilities 24,594 18,038

Accruals and deferred income 4,115 5,640

Total 125,706 154,611
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43 Off-balance sheet liabilities
On behalf of the majority of the Dutch group companies included in the consolidation, the equity holder issued

guarantees as referred to in Book 2, Section 403 of the Dutch Civil Code. Pursuant to those guarantees, the equity

holder is jointly and severally liable for debts arising from legal acts performed by those group companies.

The Greenery B.V. has issued a 403 statement for the subsidiaries below:

Subsidiaries

Disselkoen Airfreight B.V.

Greenery Holding B.V.

Greenery OG Barendrecht I B.V.

Greenery Specials Groep B.V.

Greenery Vastgoed B.V.

Hagé International B.V.

Hollander Barendrecht B.V.

Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit B.V.

Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V.

J.H. Wagenaar B.V.

Jover Beheer B.V.

 

44 Tax group
The equity holder constitutes a tax group for corporate income tax and turnover tax purposes with the vast

majority of its Dutch subsidiaries and, as such, is jointly and severally liable for the tax liability of the tax group as

a whole. The other companies that form part of the tax group are charged corporate income tax as though they

were independent taxpayers.

45 Remuneration of the members of the Board and Supervisory Board
The total amount charged to the company for the remuneration of current and former General Management

members, including pensions, in 2016 was EUR 0.8 million (2015: EUR 2.0 million), and for the Supervisory Board

in 2016: EUR 0.2 million (2015: EUR 0.2 million).

Barendrecht, 15 March 2017

General Management Supervisory Board
S.A. Martina (CEO) B.J. Feijtel (chairman)

P.R. Philip Limvers (CFO) G.W. Pronk (vice-chairman)

E.D. Drok

A.W.G.M. Hop

T.W. van Noord

A.E. Ter Laak (appointed on 28 July 2016)

N. Peeters (appointed on 10 February 2017)
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List of subsidiaries and associates

As at 31 December 2016 the most significant subsidiaries and associates included the companies listed below. A

full list of subsidiaries and associates has been filed with the Chamber of Commerce in Rotterdam.

Subsidiaries Registered office Share in capital (%)

Hollander Barendrecht B.V. Barendrecht 100

Disselkoen Airfreight B.V. De Lier 100

Hagé International B.V. Barendrecht 100

Hoogsteder Groenten en Fruit B.V. Utrecht 100

Greenery UK Ltd. Huntingdon (UK) 100

Greenery España S.A. Carlet Valencia 100

Internationaal Transportbedrijf Dijco B.V. Delft 100

J.H. Wagenaar B.V. Zwaagdijk 100

Greenery Italia Srl. Verona (I) 100

Greenery Vastgoed B.V. The Hague 100

Greenery Produce B.V. Barendrecht 100

Greenery Poland Sp. Z.o.o. Warsaw (PL) 100

PTLA Holding Participacões LTDA Beberibe (BR) 100

Associates
Houdstermaatschappij Verpakkingen B.V. Zoetermeer 78.571

Inova Fruit B.V. Geldermalsen 49.50

Branches Location Country
The Greenery B.V. Breda The Netherlands

Bleiswijk The Netherlands

   

1 The Articles of Association rule out any controlling interest.
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Other information

Articles of Association provisions governing profit appropriation
Under Article 38 of the Articles of Association, the profit is appropriated as follows:

Article 38 Profit
1. With respect to each class of Shares, a dividend reserve is held for the benefit of the holders of those Shares,

which reserve shall be identified by the same letter as the associated Shares.

2. From the profit generated in the most recent full financial year, the dividend reserve maintained on behalf of

the holders of Class B cumulative preference Shares shall, if possible, be increased by the percentage stated

below of the nominal amount paid up on the Class B cumulative preference Shares. If, in any year, the profit

does not allow the addition referred to in the previous sentence to be effected, or only in part, the deficit shall

be added to the dividend reserve maintained on behalf of the holders of Class B cumulative preference

Shares and taken off the profit of subsequent years.

3. From the profit that remains after application of Article 38.2, if and to the extent permitted by such

remaining profit, each of the dividend reserves shall be increased by an amount that equals the percentage

stated below of the relevant dividend reserve as at the end of the financial year. If the amount of a dividend

reserve has varied over the course of a financial year, the addition from the profit shall be calculated over the

average reserve for that year. To determine the amount of the addition from the profit, the dividend reserve is

increased by the amount by which it is to be supplemented pursuant to the second sentence of Article 38.8.

The percentage referred to in Article 38.2 and in this paragraph equals the interest rate percentage

applicable at the end of the financial year concerned to a government loan with a term to be determined by

the GeneralMeeting, plus one per cent.

4. Any profit that remains following the addition from the profit in accordance with Article 38.3 shall be at the

disposal of the meeting of holders of ordinary Class A Shares, which shall be free to add all or part of the

remaining profit to the Distributable Reserves.

5. Any profit not reserved in accordance with Article 38.4 by the meeting of holders of ordinary Class A Shares

shall be added to the dividend reserve which is maintained on behalf of the holders of ordinary Class A

Shares.

6. The General Meeting shall only be able to cancel all or part of a dividend reserve on behalf of the holders of a

particular class of Sharesupon a proposal to that effect by the Holders of that class of Shares, subject to the

provisions of Article 38.9. In that case, the amount cancelled shall be distributed to the holders of shares of

that particular class in proportion to the paid-up nominal amount of their Shares of that class.

7. The General Meeting shall be free at all times to make additions to the dividend reserves of a particular class

at the expense of the Distributable Reserves. The addition shall be effected in such a way that each of the

dividend reserves shall benefit from it in proportion to the nominal amounts paid up on the Shares of that

class, without prejudice to the provisions of Article 38.8, second sentence.

8. The General Meeting shall cancel all or part of a dividend reserve for the purpose of offsetting incurred

losses. If a dividend reserve has been used to offset a loss, no dividend shall be distributed other than

through cancellation of a dividend reserve in the manner referred to in Article 38.6, nor shall any reservation

or addition to another dividend reserve be effected, as long as the amount withdrawn in order to offset the

loss has not been added to that dividend reserve. Exceptions to this rule are possible if unanimously endorsed

by the General Meeting. If the amount used to offset a loss was withdrawn from more than one dividend

reserve, an addition to the relevant reserves shall be made as referred to in the second sentence of Article

38.7, in proportion to the withdrawals.

9. Additions or distributions from the profit shall not exceed the amount of the Distributable Reserves. A

decision seeking to make distributions will have no consequences until such time as the General

Management has granted approval. The General Management refuses to grant approval only if it is aware or

is expected to foresee that the Company will be unable to continue to pay its due and payable debts following

distribution. The provisions of Book 2, Section 261 of the Dutch Civil Code apply if the Company is unable to

pay its due and payable debts following distribution.
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10. Additions or distributions from the profit shall not be effected until after adoption of the financial statements

that demonstrate their justification.

11. The General Meeting may decide to provide an interim addition or distribution from the profit, with due

regard for the provisions of Article 38.9.

12. Subject to the provisions, mutatis mutandis, of Article 38.9, the General Meeting may decide to effect

distributions from a non-statutory reserve.

13. The Shareholder's distribution claim shall lapse after five years.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholder and the Supervisory Board of The Greenery B.V.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ACCOMPANYING THE
ANNUAL REPORT

Our opinion
We have audited the 2016 financial statements of the The Greenery B.V. in Barendrecht.

In our opinion the financial statements accompanying this Annual Report give a true and fair view of the financial

position of The Greenery B.V. as at 31 December 2016 and of its result for 2016 in accordance with Part 9 of Book

2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The financial statements comprise the following:

1. The consolidated and company balance sheets as at December 2016.

2. The consolidated and company income statements for 2016.

3. The notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies applied and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Auditing Standards. Our

responsibilities under those standards are described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial

statements’ section below.

We are independent of The Greenery B.V in accordance with the Regulation regarding the Independence of

Accountants performing Assurance Engagements (Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij
assurance-opdrachten) and other relevant independence requirements in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have

complied with the Code of Conduct and Professional Practice for Accountants Regulation (Verordening gedrags-

en beroepsregels accountants).

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
In addition to the financial statements and our audit opinion, the Annual Report contains other information,

which comprises the following;

• The Report of the Management Board

• The Report of the Supervisory Board

• Other information pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code

• Other information

Based on the audit procedures described below, we believe that the other information:

• Is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain any material misstatements.

• Contains all the information required pursuant to Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information and, based on our knowledge and understanding obtained from our audit of

the financial statements or otherwise, have considered whether the other information contains any material

misstatements.

Our audit procedures comply with the requirements set out in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and Dutch

Accounting Standard 720. These procedures do not have the same level of detail as our audit procedures for the

financial statements.

Management is responsible for preparing the other information, including the report of the Management Board

and the other information, in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

912016 Annual Report of The Greenery B.V.



DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory Board for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance

with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Management is responsible for such internal control as

Management deems necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the company’s

ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting framework referred to, Management

should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of accounting, unless Management either

intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Management should disclose events and circumstances in the financial statements that may cast significant

doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and

appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have

detected all material errors and fraud.

Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error and will be considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the

evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We conducted our audit in a critical and professional manner and, where relevant, used our professional

judgement in accordance with the Dutch auditing standards, ethical rules and the independence requirements.

Our audit included the following;

• Identifying and assessing the risks that the financial statements contain material misstatements whether due

to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the company’s internal control.

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by Management in the financial statements.

• Concluding on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events and or conditions that

may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures

in the financial statements, or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures,

• and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.
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Because we bear ultimate responsibility for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and

performing the group audit. We have considered this responsibility when determining the nature and extent of

the audit procedures carried out for group entities. When doing so, the significance and/or risk profile of entities

or activities played a key role. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be

carried out on the complete set of financial statements or specific items.

We communicated with the Supervisory Board on various matters, such as the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identified during

our audit.

Rotterdam, 15 March 2017

Deloitte Accountants B.V. 

Signed by: P.J.G.M. van Loon RA
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Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations

AGF
The Dutch abbreviation for potatoes, fruit and

vegetables or fresh produce.

Bee Deals
The brand name Bee Deals refers to the various

measures taken by The Greenery's growers to create

an optimum living environment for bees.

Organic
The cultivation of crops in soil using only natural and

auxiliary materials and organic crop protection. The

product specialists of the Naturelle product unit offer

organic fruit, vegetables and mushrooms from the

Netherlands and abroad. The main products within

this product unit are tomatoes, cucumbers, peppers,

aubergines, cauliflower, broccoli and mushrooms, but

our entire range of fruit and vegetables is available as

organic produce.

Category management
The strategic management of product groups on a

cooperative basis aimed at determining the optimum

composition of the category to maximise consumer

value.

Packages
Individual packaging units.

CO2

The chemical formula for carbon dioxide. CO2

emissions are mainly generated by burning fossil fuels.

Examples are heating, gas and electricity.

DC
Distribution centre

Sustainable cultivation
Healthy cultivation is sustainable cultivation. What is

good for the natural environment, is good for

mankind.

EBITDA
Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and

Amortisation.

FTE
Full-time equivalent; an FTE represents a full-time job

in an organisation.

Greenhouse vegetables
Greenhouse vegetables refer to all vegetables grown in

a greenhouse ranging from volume produce to

exclusive specialty produce, such as tomatoes,

cucumbers, peppers, courgettes, aubergines and

chillis. In cooperation with our growers, we also

produce special varieties based on consumer demand.

Snack vegetables, such as small tomatoes, cucumbers

and peppers in handy packaging are a prime example.

GlobalG.A.P.
Global Good Agricultural Practice, an international

scheme which sets standards for food safety, hygiene,

working conditions, tracking & tracing and

sustainability for fruit and vegetable producers.

CMO (Common Market Organisation)
The European Union Member States promote the

development of agriculture and horticulture based on

a common EU policy. There is a Common Market

Organisation for the fruit and vegetables sector (Fruit

and Vegetables CMO). Recognised producer

organisations in the fruit and vegetables sector are

eligible for CMO subsidies.

GRASP (GlobalG.A.P. Risk Assessment on
Social Practice)
A voluntary assessment in addition to the GlobalG.A.P.

audit concerning social and ethical circumstances at

the GlobalG.A.P. certified company.

GRI
The Global Reporting Initiative is the international

guideline for sustainability reporting.

Top fruit
All varieties of apples and pears are classified as Top

Fruit. The Greenery invests in the Junami apple club

variety and in Sweet Sensation pears.

IDH
The Dutch abbreviation for the Sustainable Trade

Initiative of Dutch supermarkets and trading

companies.
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Import
The Greenery imports exotic fruit, citrus fruit and sub-

tropical fruit all year round just as all other products

that do not grow in the Netherlands in certain periods.

Under the Hagé International brand name we source

produce directly from growers and producers across

the globe.

LEAN
A management method aimed at improving the

efficiency of working methods. The LEAN method is

used primarily to develop a customer-focused, flexible

way of working and to eliminate wastage as far as

possible.

Milieukeur
Milieukeur is a Dutch environmental quality label for

fruit and vegetables that sets requirements in the

fields of food safety, sustainable production and

operational management.

CSR (corporate social responsibility)
Business practice aimed at economic performance

(profit) with respect for social aspects (people), within

the ecological parameters (planet).

Participation Act
The aim of the Participation Act (Participatiewet) is to

enable as many people as possible with or without an

occupational impairment to find work. The act

replaces the Work and Social Assistance Act (Wwb),

the Sheltered Employment Act (WSW) and a large part

of the Work and Employment Support (Young Disabled

Persons) Act (Wajong).

QS system
Qualitat und Sicherheit, a German quality system.

Re-export
Produce which is imported from an overseas territory

and subsequently re-exported.

RJ
Dutch Annual Reporting Guidelines

RVO
The Netherlands Enterprise Agency.

SAP
Systeme, Anwendungen und Produkte in der

Datenverarbeitung, an integrated information and

control system in which business processes are

documented and managed.

Staple products
Products that are usually lifted and cut in large

volumes at the end of the season and subsequently

stored in a cool storage facility.

Supply Chain Management (SCM)
Integrated supply chain management, based on

process improvement and collaboration with supply

chain partners to create improved and more efficient

functionality.

Home-based transhipment
Loading and transporting produce directly from the

grower to the customer without the intervention of

one of The Greenery's distribution centres.

Verse Oogst
www.verseoogst.nl is the online platform of The

Greenery's growers where consumers can find

extensive information about fruit, vegetables and

mushrooms. Verse Oogst provides complete product

information and the most delicious recipes for

preparing products offered.

Rich soil produce
Our rich soil produce includes all lettuce varieties as

well as leafy vegetables, cabbages, root vegetables,

tuber vegetables and stem vegetables. Staple products

such as white and red cabbage are included in the

product range.

Seed companies
The parties that process or refine seeds to influence

certain characteristics of fruit and vegetables.

Soft fruit
Soft includes strawberries and a full range of stone

fruit and woody small fruit such as cherries, rhubarb,

peaches, plums, red currants, blueberries, blackberries

and raspberries. Asparagus also falls into the Soft Fruit

product category.

Sickness absence
Absence from work due to sickness or another

disorder.
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68 Footer

MORE INFORMATION

We would be pleased to receive any

questions, comments or suggestions

at the following address:

corporatecommunicatie@thegreenery.com

The Greenery B.V.

Spoorwegemplacement 1,

Barendrecht, The Netherlands

P.O. Box 79, 2990 AB

Barendrecht, The Netherlands

Telephone: +31 (0)180 65 59 11

E-mail: info@thegreenery.com

www.thegreenery.com

This Annual Report is a translation of the Dutch Annual Report, which is the official version.  
Please note that in case of discrepancies, the Dutch version will prevail.
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